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Friday, October 12, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Good morning, everyone.  Welcome to the Hydro One Transmission 2013/2014 revenue requirement and rates case, EB-2012-0031.

Welcome to this technical conference.  My name is Harold Thiessen.  I'm the case manager on behalf of Board Staff, and with me is Ljuba Djurdjevic, who is the Board's legal counsel on this case, and also Neil Mather, Rudra Mukherji and Fiona O'Connell here from Board Staff.

As per the Board's Procedural Order No. 3, which was issued October 1st, it is stated that the purpose of the technical conference is to increase the efficiency of the oral proceeding by providing parties with an opportunity to clarify the evidence, including an opportunity to address any outstanding questions with regard to the interrogatory responses.

Now, Ljuba was going to have a few comments, if you would like to do that now, Ljuba?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sure.  Just from a sort of legal standpoint, a procedural issue has arisen with Hydro One's letter filed October 9th, which expressed some concern about the broad scope or the general nature of some of the questions that were submitted prior to the technical conference.

Hydro One indicated that it would not have representatives to answer questions that were not technical in nature or overly broad, have not been detailed in advance or are contentious issues.

The Board appreciates that questions that are overly broad or out of scope beyond the issues list may not be appropriate and won't elicit satisfactory answers.

However, at the same time, we must be mindful of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure, section 27, which states that the purpose of a technical conference is to review and clarify the application evidence or matters connected with the interrogatories.

So a reading of the rules, in Board Staff's view, doesn't support the rather restrictive interpretation that Hydro One indicates in its letter.

But hopefully somehow we can balance, you know, the need to clarify the evidence with sort of a reasonably scoped type of question.  We all know that technical conferences are not intended for cross-examination or argument about contentious issues.  Those will be addressed at the oral hearing, if not settled.

If questions arise that intervenors or parties are not receiving satisfactory answers, those can be either dealt with by way of undertakings or, if absolutely necessary, motions to compel answers.

So hopefully we can sort of keep that all in mind and do the best that we can.

Thanks.

MR. THIESSEN:  Hydro One, as the applicant in this case, have provided -- will be providing witnesses and a witness panel for each of the various areas.  The procedural order also indicated that if there are undertakings that come out of today, that they should be filed by Friday, October 19th.

The procedural order also states that today is the first day of the technical conference and, if needed, we would move to Monday, October 15th, but hopefully we won't need to do that.

I think at this point maybe we could have appearances, and then I will turn the matters over to Hydro One to introduce their first witness panel and to make any comments that they want to make.

Shall we state here in this corner, Marion or Tom?
Appearances:


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Tom Brett.  I represent the Building Owners and Managers Association, and with me here is Marion Fraser.

MS. VARJACIC:  Anita Varjacic, counsel for Hydro One Networks.  With me I have Susan Frank, vice president and chief regulatory officer.  To my right is Allan Cowan, director of major applications, and to his right Nai Yu Zhang, regulatory advisor.

DR. HIGGIN:  Hello.  Roger Higgin here today for Energy Probe.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel to the School Energy Coalition.

MR. CROCKER:  David Crocker, counsel for AMPCO.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  With me here today at the back is Bayu Kidane, who is my consultant on this.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye, counsel for Energy Probe, and with me is David MacIntosh.

MR. GIBBONS:  Jack Gibbons for Pollution Probe.

MR. BUTTERS:  Dave Butters for APPrO.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro for VECC.

MS. SAVAGE:  Jessica Savage from the IESO regulatory affairs, and with me is Hock Ng and Paula Lukan.

MR. VENNES:  Yannick Vennes, HQ Energy Marketing.

MR. MURPHY:  Chris Murphy from OPA.

MR. GORDON:  Alex Gordon from the OPA.

MR. TAYLOR:  Andrew Taylor, counsel for Goldcorp.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, if that is everyone, then I will turn it over to Hydro One for their opening comments and move things along.

MS. VARJACIC:  We just wanted to make a few opening comments and follow up to the letter that was sent on October 9th.  We're hoping that today is really going to be a dialogue to clarify technical issues.  There are certain areas of the evidence that are technical in nature, the ETS study, pensions, accounting issues, et cetera.

There were a number of questions or issues raised that are contentious, such as compensation and the revenue requirement, that we don't have witnesses here today to speak about.

Those witnesses will be present at the hearing.  So we're hoping that today will be an effort to clarify evidence, data requests, in the hopes that we can have meaningful discussions at the settlement conference, and hopefully some issues can either be settled or designated as ones that are going to go to argument only.

Our proposal for how we're going to start today is that the first set of experts that we have here today will be speaking to issue 23 relating to the ETS study.

In the middle, we have the principal expert on this issue, Ira Shavel from Charles Rivers and Associates.  He will be prepared to speak to and respond to any questions relating to the ETS study.

At the far end of the panel, we have Steve Dorey.  He will be here to speak about how the ETS study relates to the Ontario markets.  He's also from Charles Rivers and Associates.

And closest to us here on the witness panel is Darren Finkbeiner.  He is from the IESO, manager of market development, and he is here to answer questions about how the IESO administer markets and their operations.
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MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.  Then I think we can get started.

Now, commonly intervenors choose to go first to ask any questions, and Board Staff commonly finishes off at the end when the intervenors are done.

So are there any intervenors that would like to go first?  Mark?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I would like to make a comment first.  I would really hope that maybe not -- because they have not brought the witnesses today, that they would consider bringing the witnesses for all of the panels for Monday.

What Hydro One considers technical in nature, I would say all of the issues are technical in nature, if they're contentious in a hearing or not.  One of the things that intervenors have to grapple with is there's lots of information that we don't necessarily fully understand, and through the technical conference, as the Board had asked and the Board requires, is to help clarify that the Board doesn't like to have during -- in the middle of hearings, questions of a clarification nature that could be dealt with in a technical conference.

What essentially is going to have to happen, if Hydro One stays with this position in the letter and what has been said today, is that either all of the intervenors who have questions on most of the other issues will either read them into the record and Hydro One can just refuse to answer them, or a motion is going to need to be brought.  And a motion will need to be brought not only to have those questions answered, but likely another technical conference to be convened because, you know, as it was said, it is supposed to be a dialogue to try to understand the information.

And one of the big issues, the difference between having a second round of interrogatories versus having a technical conference, is that you are allowed to ask to clarify what an answer is, and all of those other sorts of things, which we think would be important.

Clearly this information would need to have to happen before the settlement conference, which, you know, could only delay things even further, and I think, you know, Hydro One would want to consider that.

And I think, you know, there is an added time and expense of having to file a motion and have the Board adjudicate that for something that I think is completely unnecessary.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any response from Hydro One?

MS. VARJACIC:  No, not at the moment.  I am going to suggest that we start with the experts that are here on that issue, and we will consider the comments that we just heard when we break.

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.  Well, there is a full panel for this particular issue, and it is an important issue, so why don't we start with questions for this panel?

MR. THIESSEN:  Which intervenor would like to begin?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will go.

MR. THIESSEN:  We have a taker.  Mr. Buonaguro.
Questions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Let it be noted I volunteered first.  So this is -- sorry, we are restricted to questions on the expert transmission service rates?  Right?  Okay.

Good morning.  I am going to throw my questions out there, and whoever on the panel thinks they're best to answer it, please do.

VECC provided a list of interrogatories related to each question to give you an idea of where we had some questions.  My first set of questions relates to two interrogatories, OEB No. 88 and VECC No. 53.

And starting with VECC No. 53, at part (a), the response sets out the intertie congestion rents collected over the past three years, and then OEB No. 88 suggests that most of this revenue accrues to transmission rights holders.

Is that a fair summary of the two responses?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me, typically, who are transmission rights holders?  Are they -- for example, are they parties in Ontario or outside of Ontario?

MR. FINKBEINER:  The transportation rights holders are a combination of both financial market participants and physical traders.

TR market is a financial one that is for both speculators and traders to protect their positions when they're making deals from Ontario to other jurisdictions.

When you look at who they are specifically, you could have an importer or an exporter trying to move power, and if congestion occurs they are insulated from that congestion with the purchase of a TR or transmission right, or a financial player who is looking at profit opportunity based on that congestion.

If you look at who owns them, there is a mix of domestic and international players and financial companies such as banks.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So my specific question about inside or outside Ontario, you said yes, they're both?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Both.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have a breakdown available of the revenue distribution between the two groups, i.e., transmission rights holders within Ontario and transmission rights holders outside of Ontario?

MR. FINKBEINER:  No, we don't.  And we actually don't go through and define is this person based in Ontario or based in the US.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I take it from that you're saying it is not information that you could readily compile?

MR. FINKBEINER:  No, it's not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But there is the two groups?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Moving on to VECC No. 51 and each HQEM No. 3, attachment 1, which is a response to issue No. 9, and these have to do with uplift revenues.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We're not clear why increases in uplift revenues are considered an increase in consumer surplus as suggested in these responses, so I would like to explore that briefly.

Can you confirm that uplift fees are charged to both Ontario consumers and exports?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, we can confirm that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you confirm that -- and we think this is noted in response to VECC No. 51, part (a) -- the fees go towards paying various costs associated with operating and managing the Ontario market?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you further confirm that, in principle, uplift fees are calculated by dividing such costs by the electricity delivered?  Both –- and by that we mean both exports and domestic customers.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  The uplift is charged on a megawatt-hour basis, based on -- that is based on consumption.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So in reality, doesn't this mean that if increased exports lead to increased uplift revenues, it is because there are increased market costs associated with the higher volumes being delivered?

MR. FINKBEINER:  The characterization that there is increased uplifts with exports is probably incorrect.

The costs to running the system don't change materially with imports or exports.  The uplift costs are things like ancillary services, operating reserves, losses on the system, and those are distributed amongst all consumers at the time, including exports.

There is no additional, specific additional uplift associated with an export transaction.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me try this again because I am a little confused.

My understanding is that as exports increase, your uplift revenue increases; is that right?

MR. FINKBEINER:  The rate base in which we collect those costs increases, so if we have -- let's assume for a very simple example a million dollars of uplift charges for operating reserve, regulation and the like, if we had just 15,000 megawatts of demand in Ontario, we would spread that million dollars over 15,000.

The moment you add 1,000 megawatts of exports, we spread that million dollars over 16,000 megawatts.

So the actual per-megawatt cost would go down, but the overall recovery would remain largely the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I say largely because things like losses do change with flows on exports and things, and they have a marginal impact on losses, or on uplift.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying that the actual uplift fee charge changes based on the megawatts that are being collected?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  As the consumption in Ontario varies, the amount charged per megawatt will vary if the uplifts remained constant.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say if the uplifts remain constant, you mean the costs?

MR. FINKBEINER:  The costs, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Things like operating reserve which are uplifted, they vary on a five-minute basis, so assuming just all else being equal.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

But doesn't this mean that the CRA modelling assumption of constant uplift fees, doesn't that imply that an increase in exports would implicitly have an associated increase in market costs, such that higher volumes and higher costs result in the same uplift fee?

I understand what your answer was to me, but then my understanding is that within the CRA model, it assumes constant uplift fees, which assumes that costs are increasing as the -- as the exports increase.

MR. DOREY:  Yeah.  No, what we did was actually take the incremental revenue, uplift revenue associated with additional exports and treated that as a benefit to Ontario consumers.  So we assume that that money will be reallocated to users of the Ontario system, perhaps with a lag, but that that money is money that is available to offset costs of the system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am confused, because I think you just told me that that is not what you do.  In fact, the actual uplift fee will change depending on how much flow you have?

MR. FINKBEINER:  From a benefit -- as Steve pointed out, from a benefit perspective, we're collecting -- going back to my example, when we collect 1,000 megawatts of exports paying that uplift, that component is something that Ontario consumers no longer have to pay.  And that's why there is that benefit.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm going to test this.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If there were no increase in market costs as a result of increased exports, is it fair to say that uplift fees would go down?  I.e., it would be the same costs divided by higher volumes?

MR. SHAVEL:  Per megawatt-hour they would go down, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, your microphone is off.

MR. SHAVEL:  Per megawatt-hour, they would go down.  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And would it also be true that such reduction in uplift costs would benefit both exporters and domestic customers?

MR. FINKBEINER:  No.  The exporter would pay the uplift.  The more -- I will try to be clear.

The more consumers or the more consumption you have on the system, the lower per-megawatt basis everybody pays.

So as you're distributing this cost over a bigger and bigger base, so to the extent that as you add exports the Ontario ratepayer pays a lower dollar per megawatt hour charge, the same is true if you have 1,000 megawatts of exports then go to 2,000; everybody pays a little bit less to cover the same costs.

So from that perspective, everybody benefits with every increase of demand on the system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I thought you're -- it sounds like you are agreeing with me.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I think I am, if I understand your question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You started by not agreeing with me.  I think you ended up agreeing with me.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Okay.  I apologize.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Just a few more questions.  This relates to HQEM Interrogatory No. 1, part (a).  Since market opening, has Hydro One built any transmission facilities that increase intertie capability with neighbouring jurisdictions?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, they have.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in relation to -- well, I'm assuming --


MR. FINKBEINER:  By the way, with their interconnected partners.  It is not something they take on their own.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I guess an example of that would the Quebec intertie?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Quebec intertie, and they have made some investments on the Michigan interface that also increases net capacity.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In relation to HQEM No. 2, are there any control actions that are taken in advance of export curtailment that impacts domestic customer supply?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Not that I can recall, but that would have to be subject to check.  We have an emergency control actions list.  There are a number of events, and it depends on what you characterize as an impact to Ontario.

There are situations where we, as partners with our neighbouring jurisdictions, assist one another.  So, for example, if New York State was shedding load, we would continue to export to them and curtail voltage in Ontario, if they were doing the same in their system.

So there are instances where we can create scenarios where, yes, we would be impacting the Ontario consumer, but it was for the benefit for the entire grid, which we rely on to remain reliable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Just to be clear, you started by saying you didn't think so, but I think you just described to me a control action you would take in advance of export curtailment that would have an impact?

MR. FINKBEINER:  As I was going through, I recalled this last scenario I mentioned, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is one example.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Are there other --


MR. FINKBEINER:  There may be.  I would have to go back and look at the list.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So do you want to take an undertaking?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I can do so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  That undertaking will be KT1.1.  Is there a need to define it more clearly?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it is going to be an undertaking to provide a list of control actions that are taken in advance of export curtailment that impact domestic customer supply.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.1:  TO PROVIDE A LIST OF CONTROL ACTIONS THAT ARE TAKEN IN ADVANCE OF EXPORT CURTAILMENT THAT IMPACT DOMESTIC CUSTOMER SUPPLY.

MR. FINKBEINER:  We will provide that list.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Lastly, and I think this is a very technical question, this is with respect to APPrO No. 5.  With respect to the table on the second page, is there a unit metric missing, or is this the value -- or is the value for unilateral elimination in 2013 truly $21?

MR. SHAVEL:  It is truly $21.  The changes were -- except for the equivalent average network charge, they were all very, very small.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. SHAVEL:  Essentially zero.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions on this topic.

MR. THIESSEN:  Who would like to go next?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can't go second, as well.

[Laughter]

MR. THIESSEN:  So no other intervenor questions on this panel?

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Thiessen, we have questions, but I think we should print something at the break before we ask these questions.  It will be clearer if we do that.

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.  I believe maybe we can do that.  Maybe Board Staff can go next.
Questions by Mr. Mather:


MR. MATHER:  We had submitted a number of questions.  Number 28 of our questions refers to the response to Staff Interrogatory No. 87.  For some reason, these go in reverse order of the original interrogatories.

As far as the uplift is concerned in the report, it says that the average is $3.33.  In your response just now, you said at the time, I think.

So the uplift charge that the IESO is charging varies by hour or it varies with the situation on the system, or why re talking about averages?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Do you want to address the average and I will address the changes?

MR. SHAVEL:  Sure.  Well, as far as the modelling, we needed to model a fixed number, and the $3.33 was developed with the assistance of the IESO.  We keep that constant in our modelling, but it does -- as Darren described before, it does change depending on the total demand, the changes, depending on the system, ancillary services, depending on losses.

MR. FINKBEINER:  If you look at the contributors to uplift, I had mentioned earlier just one example where we calculate the cost for our operating reserve on a five-minute basis.  So that fluctuates each and every interval of the day.

We have other uplifts that are more stable, calculated on a monthly basis, things like our reactive support.  So there is a number of variable components that go into the sum total of what the uplift charges are.

So once we determine what that cost is, the allocation of that is based on a megawatt-hour.  So in one hour, if you have 15,000 megawatts, the next hour you have 16,000 megawatts, if the costs for the uplifts in those hours were identical, the rate that you would pay on a per-megawatt basis would vary.

So those are the types of things we talk about for variability.  What we did is we looked -- to come up with that number for the CRA analysis, we looked at what were the averages of those over time to give them a static number they could use in their modelling.

MR. MATHER:  All right.  So it would be fair to say that since we're talking here about a rate for exports that goes to Hydro One of $2.00 per megawatt-hour and this average is $3.33, then just talking about those two components, we're talking in this hearing about the smaller -- about roughly 40 percent, $2.00 out of the $5.00-plus per megawatt-hour that an exporter would expect to pay?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  The $2.00 is the smaller component.

MR. MATHER:  Then the intertie congestion is an additional, on top of the $5.33 I have just described?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It is a financial risk that they're exposed to, yes.  If we're talking about the congestion rent associated with market-based congestion as opposed to the revenue, the congestion revenue, that is reported in the CRA analysis.

MR. MATHER:  But the revenue is over and above the two components that we've talked about so far?

MR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  And when does an exporter find out what the uplift -- what the uplift is going to be in the next five minutes or in the next day, or whatever?

MR. FINKBEINER:  When they get their bill at the end of the month.  They can get preliminary statements in advance of that, but they are trued up for their month end final invoice.

MR. MATHER:  At the end of the month, they find out whether there was any intertie congestion charge on their transaction, and they find out what the uplift charge was per megawatt-hour when they're exporting?

MR. FINKBEINER:  My apologies.  I was referring to just the uplift component.  The intertie congestion rent that the IESO-administered market applies is determined an hour in advance of the transaction going into place.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  So when somebody enters into one of these financial transactions they -- that, in a sense, doesn't concern the IESO or Hydro One.  That's to -- if somebody is an exporter, he's ensuring that he doesn't pay more than X amount to export the power, because the financial counterparty is going to pocket the difference or bear the difference.

Is that what a financial transaction right is?

MR. FINKBEINER:  What we call a transmission right, a financial transmission right, is something that does not relate to the real-time buying and selling of power.

It is a financial construct that is an auctioned construct that you can procure through either monthly or annual auctions well in advance of any trading -- trading period.

So we have monthly auctions and quarterly auctions.  So if they are looking to manage their risks associated with intertie congestion, they would participate in one of those auctions, purchase the number of rights they think is appropriate.

That auction cost is now a sunk cost, if you will, and then they can trade within the real-time processes knowing that any congestion that may occur they're insulated from.  The --


MR. MATHER:  That auction is conducted by the IESO?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  So the revenue we're talking about to the IESO from either the actual exporter or the financial person that they have traded with is over and above the $5.33 that comes from -- on average, from uplift and the export tariff?

MR. FINKBEINER:  So if you break down the two components -- or there's multiple components I will break down -- the auction revenues that I just mentioned go into the TR market accounts.

During the trading day, when they actually try to move power from Ontario to, let's say, New York, we collect as if they were a consumer.  We collect their payment from them.  If there was congestion, what we call a congestion rent, that component goes to the accounts.

So depending on the time frame, we collect some of it during auction, and then we collect the rest of it during the settlement of that actual deal.

MR. MATHER:  Now, we heard in the evidence submitted by Mr. Laurent for APPrO that they feel considerable uncertainty about all sort of things, and if the export tariff were to become uncertain then that uncertainty would increase.  Clearly that is true; if it were not $2 per megawatt-hour announced years in advance, clearly that uncertainty would grow.

But the impression I am getting is that there is considerable uncertainty on the part of an exporter as to what that exporter is going to pay, either -- well, what that exporter is going to pay to get rid of the power into another jurisdiction; is that fair?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There is uncertainty related to exporting power.  They place a bid into the marketplace to get scheduled, and the settlement price is not determined until such time that the deal is long over.  So there is uncertainty there.

With experience, and you measure the volatility of trade, these entities are fairly sophisticated.  They do, however, respond to uncertainty, and uncertainty is not always the best thing for them as far as coming into a marketplace and moving power.

MR. MATHER:  Does the uplift charge vary by the system condition?  And I am thinking particularly about surplus base load generation conditions; is the uplift charge under those situations higher than average?  Lower than average?  Random?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I don't have an answer for that, I'm afraid.

MR. MATHER:  Turning to our Question 34, which was on Staff's 87, I think it really involves just the modelling.

Friction is a modelling refinement.  It is not something that represents money that is actually changing hands between exporters and other people?

MR. SHAVEL:  It's a bit of both, I would say.

There are -- there are transaction costs that marketers bear.  So they -- there is an economic, a true economic component to making a transaction.

Then there is risk premiums that a marketer might incorporate in their bid.  They won't trade if they think they're only going to make a -- without -- this is not realistic necessarily, but, say, without believing they are going to make $2 a megawatt-hour, they simply won't trade.

So this is intended to model some of that, the inefficiencies between the markets, as well as actual costs to the marketers.

MR. MATHER:  So if we were to say cost is no object and we would get into some sort of Monte Carlo simulations or something like that, then friction would be modelled quite differently, I take it, than how you have done.  And this was a necessity from the style of model that has been done here?

MR. SHAVEL:  The way we've done it here, yes.  I mean, let me -- if I can say about the way we chose the model and why we modelled it -- things the way we did, we didn't model uncertainty.

We are modelling a contract path-type of -- which is the way the world works -- contract path charges.  It's not the way power flows.  There are other models, and in the report -- I believe it is in the report -- we note that we didn't choose a model like a GEMAPS.  Or maybe it was in one of the stakeholder meetings.  A model of electrical flows, because there you really can't put charges on contract paths, which is the way -- which is the way marketers and others pay for their transactions.

We also needed to be able to construct paths from Ontario to PJN through Michigan and through New York, that were realistic in terms of the way the marketplace really works.

So we needed a model that could do that.  We modelled transmission in a somewhat simplified way, the electrical nature, but we had joint constraints so that we didn't have power flowing willy-nilly through a network.

We needed a model that -- with relatively small changes.  I don't want to minimize the ETS change of going from zero -- status quo of two to zero, going from two to 5.8.

But these aren't huge numbers to be measuring differences around in a model, and we needed a model that didn't have a lot of heuristics in it, which some of the other models have.  We needed something that was an optimization, that when we made a change, we could cleanly measure a difference.  And that was the basic reason for using the model.  And we had to pick a frictional number for the model, as well.

MR. MATHER:  So the friction occurs to some extent because the traders are uncertain about what might happen to them in terms of uplift and intertie congestion charges and so on?

MR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  And the different time frames in the markets.  Markets aren't perfect, so -- and price signals aren't -- prices aren't known in some cases until after the fact, as Darren just described.

MR. MATHER:  What is the highest charge that an intertie congestion charge might take on?  I guess it is in dollars per megawatt-hour, is it?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  Yes, the intertie congestion price, as we call it is -- it can range.  The highest we have seen it in 2011 is actually $2,000, and that is our maximum market clearing price.  And we have seen it on the import side as low as negative $2,000, at least once.

MR. MATHER:  What proportion of the time would it be above, say, $10?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I don't know the proportion time above a specific number.  About 58 percent of the time, there is at least one intertie that was export congested in 2011, and 52 percent of the time there was at least one intertie import congested.

As you can tell by those numbers, it can happen simultaneously.  You can be imported congested at Michigan and export congested at New York, as an example.

MR. MATHER:  And so an exporter who had not hedged then could find themselves paying that -- paying a charge if they had made a deal with somebody in Michigan, and not paying if they made the same deal with somebody in New York?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  Their settlement would refer those congestion costs.

MR. MATHER:  I'm sorry, I keep jumping back and forth between uplift and intertie congestion.

What is the highest that uplift would be per megawatt-hour?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I do not know that number.

MR. MATHER:  Is it big?  Little?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I would be guessing.  I'm sorry.

MR. MATHER:  I guess where Staff is puzzled about this, I guess, is if one were to go to either a time varying charge, the 3.50 and a dollar, or to, say, let's be responsive to system conditions, but talking about roughly the same amount of money, $30 million a year, is that a big deal from the point of view of trading, or from anybody's point of view?  Or is it kind of just adding a little bit of uncertainty on top of where there is already lots and lots of uncertainty, and people seem to be still doing business?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I think it would be inappropriate for the IESO and our position to comment on the effects of that.

I think every -- like in any business, everybody has different financial tolerances.  Some people are more willing to ride a variable mortgage rate, versus other people want to lock in for five years.

All traders are different and will have a different financial outlook on that uncertainty.  So it would be speculation on our part whether or not it would or wouldn't have a large, small or medium impact, based on their particular positions.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  Fair enough.

Our last question -- I will be coming back to some other ones, but our Question No. 35 concerned failures of transactions.  And there's tens of thousands of transactions per month, we see in the evidence, and hundreds of thousands per year and very large numbers of failures.

What do you understand a failed transaction to be?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Our definition for the IESO of a failed transaction is one where -- let me step back just briefly.

The way we schedule and determine what transactions we want to schedule is based on our hourly, what we call pre-dispatch process.

A failure of a transaction is when we look at that pre-dispatch schedule and see a transaction that appears to be economic and we wish to schedule, but then when we talk to our scheduling partners, like New York ISO or the Midwest ISO, they do not accept that schedule or transaction to take place.

So that is what we define as a failure.  There's a number of reasons for failures that we articulate, some of which are inability to get transmission service in another jurisdiction, for example, or you didn't offer high enough or low enough in that external market, those sort of things.

MR. MATHER:  So it is a failure only in the sense that there was a deal there -- that people thought there was a deal to be made, and then as real circumstances unfold, then it wasn't to be?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There is a number of reasons.  We classify them both within and without of the market participant's control.

Any transaction that fails that we deem to be in their -- within their control, they actually attract a failure charge, a penalty associated with that.  If it is not within their control - let's say, for example, we were trying to import from New York and they were going through a shortage and they curtail that transaction, it wasn't necessarily the participant's fault; it was the ISO needing the power - we would consider those outside of their control.

MR. MATHER:  So that is yet another source of uncertainty from the point of view of the exporter, I take it?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's fair.

MR. MATHER:  So in some sense, it is not really a failure. If I am looking for a house, I like a particular house, and I say, Okay this is a go, I will pay -- you know, all that sort of thing.  But this it is subject to the building inspector coming in and saying whatever it is.  The building inspector comes in and says, Take a look at this foundation, and say, Okay, I'm out of here.

That wasn't a failure.  That was me saving myself from a disaster, right?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is one characterization I think is fair.

If my wife really wanted the house and she didn't get it, she would consider that a failure.

[Laughter]

MR. FINKBEINER:  So from an ISO perspective, we really wanted those megawatts, because that is what we're using to manage supply and demand balance, or we had hoped to, because it was the cheapest option.  So from our perspective, it was an economic loss to not have that deal take place.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  So it was a failure from her point of view, because she didn't look in the basement?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's right.

[Laughter]

MR. MATHER:  Okay, thanks.  This probably isn't a question for any of you.  Your understanding is that the cost of the facilities that are built between jurisdictions goes into the grid cost?  That is classified as grid in Hydro One's cost allocation?  I am looking far and wide here.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I believe that to be the case.  I think it was just confirmed by Hydro One staff.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  And so some of those facilities could be - could be - separated off, one supposes, just thinking about the system, into those that are strictly for import or export as opposed to being used domestically.  But none of them are simply for export or simply for import; is that a fair...

MR. FINKBEINER:  There are some interfaces between Ontario and Quebec that are unique in their direction.

Some are very specific for import.  Some are very specific for export.  That is because of --


MR. MATHER:  The ones from Quebec are for import to Ontario, but possibly for export out the other side, then?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  There are some interfaces with Quebec where -- their system is unique relative to our other partners.  They will disconnect load from their system and connect it to the Ontario system, and we deem that to be an export.  They will do the same where they can disconnect generation from their system and connect it to our system.  We deem those to be an import.

The DC tie, obviously, is more akin to our New York and Michigan interfaces, just with greater control.

MR. MATHER:  Okay, thanks.  All of my other questions I think have to do with the comparison of the export tariff from Ontario compared to other people's similar tariffs.

Our Question No. 29 concerned the rate adders in the other jurisdictions and uplift from Ontario.

I guess, can you confirm that everybody else's adders are lower than the average uplift from Ontario?

MR. SHAVEL:  I believe that is what the numbers show in the study, yes.

MR. MATHER:  The fact that uplift varies with time means that sometimes uplift from Ontario would be lower than their adders, or is that just too much detail?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I think it is very likely that there are times where we are both higher and lower.  Based on my understanding of all of the other jurisdictions, their uplifts also vary.  They could be going down as we go up.  So you can see them -- this is on an as average basis, as I understand it.

MR. MATHER:  The adders that are in the table in the report, are those revenues that are going to the transmission organizations, the counterparts of the IESO, or are those additional revenues that are going to those transmitters, or is it a bit of both?  I'm not sure.

MR. SHAVEL:  Specifically the ones that are in the appendix, the ones that fall under the uplift category?

MR. MATHER:  Yes.

MR. SHAVEL:  I think it is fair to say they vary.

Now, some of them are specifically identified as ISO annual budget charge.  Looking at the -- I believe is New York.  Yes.  And they have 69 cents for an annual ISO budget charge.  But some of these are also for ancillary services.  Some of them are for various uplift.

I think there's certainly a component in each of them that goes to run the ISO.  And if you looked across them, as I did this morning, again, they vary.  The components vary.  They have some things in common, all of them, ancillary services, but the other components vary.

And they vary in cost, too, quite a bit, as noted in your question.

MR. MATHER:  I certainly got the sense that that table had been quite difficult to put together and involves a lot of probably assumptions on your part, I take it?

MR. SHAVEL:  No.  I mean, these numbers come out of the filings, trying to put them on a common basis so they can be compared, but the numbers themselves come straight out of there.

MR. MATHER:  I guess that is what I was meaning, is that to make sure that the apples are being compared with the apples is quite difficult?

MR. SHAVEL:  Right.

MR. MATHER:  And varies from place to place?

MR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Is it a fair question:  Why is the uplift in Ontario higher than anybody else's?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I wouldn't be able to answer that, not knowing how they actually construct their uplift and what they put in uplift versus other fees that I am not aware of.

MR. MATHER:  Kind of a picky question.  The numbers in the studies didn't actually match the numbers in the appendices.  How did that come to be?

MR. DOREY:  It came to be that we used slightly different, about a half-a percent different, exchange rates in the two pieces.  Apologies.

MR. MATHER:  So it wasn't actually that one set of numbers is out of date or anything?

MR. DOREY:  No.

MR. MATHER:  It is actually an exchange rate?

MR. DOREY:  It is a slightly different exchange rate used.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  Much has been made, I guess, of pancaking and efficiency, and so on, and the fact that it would be quite lovely if the export tariff were zero.

I take it that the efficiency is also affected by all of these other charges that we have been talking about, that efficiency would be even higher if there were zero uplift charges, particularly at times of surplus baseload generation.  And if many of these other things were zero, efficiency as defined, would be enhanced, I take it?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.  Our imports are somebody else's exports.  So if you had like cost generation in both jurisdictions -- if we had a $40 gas plant in Ontario and we had a $40 gas plant in New York, but we were out of $40 gas and we saw that asset sitting there idle in New York, it would be ideal to take that $40 energy, instead of running a $45 more expensive resource here.

But when they have to pay $6.00, $7.00 to get out of New York, all of a sudden you're paying 47 or more for that $40 energy.  So from an efficiency perspective, that would be true, if those were all gone.

MR. MATHER:  And this is really just another manifestation of the fact that the marginal -- short-run marginal cost of running transmission facilities is zero, and so one may as well -- efficiency is at peril any time we're charging a price higher than short-run marginal cost, I think; is that fair?

MR. SHAVEL:  I think that is fair.  On the other hand, there is a need to recover the overall cost.

MR. MATHER:  Which is why we're here today.

MR. SHAVEL:  That's right.  Exactly.

MR. MATHER:  I think in both of the previous hearings on this subject, we've talked about the neighbours and the fact they don't seem to be interested in charging zero when they're charging $5 or $8 or numbers like that, plus uplift and various other things.

If the IESO were meeting with other regional transmission organizations, would its position be more straightforward or enhanced at all by controlling the whole -- the whole charge, as opposed to having $2 or some similar number that is non-negotiable?

MR. FINKBEINER:  With respect to including the transmission collection, as well?

MR. MATHER:  Correct.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I'm not sure it would be any easier, given that the collection of transmission tariffs is more of a regulatory function that we just are not -- we're not in a rate base sort of environment within the IESO.

I don't know that we could do that properly.

MR. MATHER:  I think my last round of clarifications here.

The payment to Hydro One is a monthly payment that is kind of a three-year average; did I read that correctly?

That is maybe in the rate application, perhaps, not in the Charles River report.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I can't remember exactly how -- when we collect the export fee, the $2 now, it goes to the Hydro One.  I don't know on what invoicing basis exactly that is.

MR. MATHER:  So Hydro One is at volume risk within a given month?  Or is it insulated from the volume risk?  You're not in a position --


MR. FINKBEINER:  Over the years we have gone from import -- higher import volumes over a year to export volumes over a year, and that is a revenue, starting at $1 at market open to now $2, that, if the exports disappear, it is a revenue lost.

MR. MATHER:  And Hydro One gets revenue from transmitting imports as well as exports?

MR. FINKBEINER:  They do not, for imports.  There is only an export charge.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  Thank you.

I think that, in no particular order, those were my questions.

MR. THIESSEN:  Are there are any other intervenors that would like to ask questions at this point?

AMPCO has requested to come after the break.  I guess they're preparing something?

MR. BRETT:  I just have one question, Harold.  I guess one question with two parts.

The uplift charges you have described, they're not -- none of them are peculiar to export or import transactions, are they?  In other words, you calculate uplifts for a variety of reasons during the year?  You mentioned reserves.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  That's fair.  None of them are specific to trading activities.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  The second part of that, is there in the evidence or in the IMO market -- IESO market rules or anywhere else that you are aware of, a list of the -- each of the uplift components and how it is calculated?

You have been talking a bit about some of them being calculated every five minutes, every hour, every day, every month.  Is there somewhere where that is all stated so it can be looked at, one can look at it and compare it?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I know we have some of them.  I'm not sure if it is an exhaustive list, and I am not sure it is easy to look at, but I can go back and --


MR. BRETT:  Would you be able to give an undertaking to do that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  We can.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  That will be Undertaking KT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.2:  to PROVIDE LIST OF UPLIFT COMPONENTS AND HOW IT IS CALCULATED.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  If there are no other questions at this point, it is not a terribly unreasonable time to take a break.

And if AMPCO is going to come back after the break with some questions for this panel -- and Hydro One is going to come back with, I think, a response to the School Energy Coalition's comments this morning?  Hydro One, I think, is also going to be coming back with some sort of written documents, as well?

MR. GIBBONS:  Harold?  Jack Gibbons.  If I could make one other request for Hydro One when they come back, if Hydro One could tell us the sequence of their proposed panels for today, that would be very helpful.

I am trying to figure out whether I have to stay here all day.  And you've got a letter from us and maybe you could tell me when my panel would be up, or panels.

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.  Is there a specific period of time that you need to do this?  15 minutes be okay?

MS. VARJACIC:  Sure.

MR. THIESSEN:  So the clock on the wall is currently about 10:30.  So why don't we get back together at quarter to 11:00?

--- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 10:50 a.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, if we're ready to resume, I think I will turn the mic over to Hydro One.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. VARJACIC:  Well, we will start by responding to the School's request to have all of the witness panels here, and have determined that really the best person to answer that question and explain why that is not feasible is the company itself.

So I am going to turn it over to Susan Frank to respond to that.

MS. FRANK:  I would like to say that we certainly support the Board's objectives for...  She turned me off.  Okay, I thought I was fine.

Okay.  So we want to support the Board's approach for a technical conference to allow for clarification of questions and issues so they can potentially go to settlement or to a written argument, but not have to go to hearing.  So answering questions of that nature is certainly something we intended to do.

Where the questions were provided a week ago today, it is much easier to deal with that, and that was the Board's direction, to provide questions a week ago today.  So where we got questions, we have done one of three things.

We have either said we will get some experts here to be able to handle these questions, because they are of a technical nature and follow-up questions are obviously going to be necessary.  So we do have experts coming in.  We have one other panel that is coming that will provide expert response to the questions or other questions will come up in those areas.

There were also several questions - and the Board Staff had several of these - where there was data being requested.  And data is best handled in a written form.  So we have responses.  We have answers to those ones where they want data.

There were some questions that only came in yesterday and we haven't been able to answer those questions yet, but a lot of those are also asking for data, and we will answer those in a written format and we will get the answers in as soon as we can.  And I did hear the October 19th date, and I think that that is something that is not unreasonable.

Some of the others are areas where we thought they best go to hearing, and one of the reasons we think they best go to hearing is they tend to be items that are always contentious.  They always cause problems.  Historically, they have not been settled.  They have gone to hearing.  And so we've said that really there isn't much benefit, because they're not asking for data.  They're not of a technical area.  They're areas that are contentious.

So we are prepared to say here's not only the hearing, but what panel we would think at the hearing would be best to place these questions.

So in some cases, we will have somebody who says, We think that is best -- that question is best to go to a hearing.

So our notion would be, please, ask whatever questions you have.  We will have one other group of experts who will be up here to answer for the rest of what all the questions are, and we will either be able to take your question and say that is a data request and we will give it to you in writing, so that would be by way of an undertaking, or we can help you with -- because it is a straightforward question, we can just point you to the evidence or we can answer it quickly.

And we actually have some that have been asked by CCC where we have indicated to them -- they're not present here today, but we said we will put it on the record.  So we do intend to put some of the answers on the record orally.

Then if none of those, we will tell you which panel -- we will identify which areas we will have in the hearing for panels.

So I believe this is in the spirit of what the Board is looking for, and there isn't a long -- we can't bring up all of the witnesses -- the hearing right now is scheduled for six days.  We can't run six days in two.  This is not hearing number 1.  This is, as Schools has suggested, as well, to deal with clarification of technical items.  We have a way of dealing with that.

So I think we are being responsive to what the Board has indicated.  It is just sometimes there are issues that we feel really we're not going to deal with here because they aren't data.  They aren't technical.  They are questions that are best suited in a hearing.

In terms of Jack's question about his -- you know, when is his group here, I will actually turn it back to our counsel, because his questions are in that written category.

MS. VARJACIC:  I have here a package that I am going to propose to mark as an exhibit, if we can, to today, which provides the written responses for everybody of the data requests, which are a number of Staff questions, all of the Pollution Probe questions, I do believe, and PWU No. 5.

And what we propose to do is to finish up with this ETS study panel, take a short break.  We can circulate this five minutes or so, so everybody can leaf through it and have a look, and then carry on with the next panel.

MR. GIBBONS:  Could you circulate it now?

MS. VARJACIC:  Sure.

MR. GIBBONS:  If your responses are perfect, then I can just leave right now.

MS. VARJACIC:  We're happy to do that.

[Documents passed out to parties in hearing room]


MR. THIESSEN:  I think what we will do is label that handout from Hydro One as Exhibit JT1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. JT1.1:  WRITTEN RESPONSES BY HYDRO ONE TO DATA REQUESTS.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Just in terms of a clarification - this is Energy Probe - we submitted questions in writing, as you said, yesterday.  Which bucket are they in, that they will be responded in writing, or do you want me to go through all of the questions today on the record?  Please could you clarify.

MR. COWAN:  Okay, Roger.  Having looked at your questions, we're planning to provide written answers for your questions 1, 3, 5, 6, 8, and 9, and we're suggesting questions 2, 4, 7, 10 and 11 should go to hearing.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  We will look at that and discuss it.  All right.

MR. THIESSEN:  Mr. Rubenstein, your comments.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I just want to respond to what was said by Hydro One.

The first thing is, if you actually look at what was said in Procedural Order No. 3 - and this is on page 3 and 4 - the Board only required that parties send by October 5th a list of issues, questions or matters on which they intend to seek clarification at the technical conference.

I can speak for my client.  We sent a letter identifying the issues that we had expected -- that we sought in the technical conference to seek clarification for.  And so it wasn't -- there was no requirement for questions to be specified.

I think also a very important difference between sort of, you know, undertakings, where some clearly in a technical conference are required if it's a data request, but if it's not a data request and having the people who are responsible for that evidence to be here, is that you can engage in a dialogue to help understand what the evidence says and be able to respond to answers.

While you can say that some issues are technical -- well, I would say all of the issues have a technical capacity.  There are -- you know, Hydro One filed voluminous amounts of information.  Much of it is very complicated.  And, you know, I can speak again for my client.  There are some issues that we seek clarification, and I think it would be very -- you know, the idea here is that we would be able to get an answer at the technical conference for some of them and be able to follow up.

I think this morning was a perfect example where this occurred, where questions about the ETS study were asked.  There were some answers provided but, again, clarification was needed because it is a complicated issue.

I also would say that I think it is -- the position that Hydro One is taking seems to be that, well, some issues are contentious, per se, and that means that there should be no sort of further discovery and technical discovery and it should just go to hearing.

Again, the Board has -- I've been in enough hearings to know the Board doesn't like to spend hearing time especially when we only have a limited amount of time, six days, to deal with many issues that, you know, you spend time asking for clarifications on specific parts of the evidence.

I mean, the Board is pretty clear in the procedural order, as well.  And I think it was, you know, mentioned earlier on today what the purpose of the technical conference is.

So essentially what's going to -- you know, what's going to happen –- and, again, I ask Hydro One to reconsider -- is that, you know, a motion is going to need to be filed to reconvene the technical conference at a later date and have all of the panels -- or Hydro One to provide panels to answer questions on the issues.

I mean, I understand that the hearing is six days.  The technical conference is only two days, but I think as we saw this morning, the ETS study took about an hour of questions.  I think it is pretty certain that in the oral hearing it would be a lot longer than an hour taken for cross-examination.

The technical conference time goes a lot quicker than cross-examination on the same issues.

MS. FRANK:  What we would suggest, Mark, is that you actually ask your questions, whatever they are, and we will have somebody there who is very familiar with the evidence.  I suspect that we will be able to answer several of your questions, but let's give this a try, first.  Let's not say:  Unless I can see your whole 20 people that you are going to put up as panel members today at the technical conference, then you have to have a motion to order them to be here.

There are 20 people that we're going to be bringing forward as witnesses.  I don't think it is reasonable that we bring them in these two days, but I think it is reasonable that we have somebody who can answer -- an expert who can answer questions and provide some guidance.  We're going to do that.  Where we believe the person can't -- and it is, once again, something that will be helpful in terms of clarification, we will do it.

If it's not clarification, then that is hearing material.

Can I just say let's give it a try?

MR. THIESSEN:  Shall we give it a try?  I mean, even if the result isn't whatever everyone expects it to be, at least some progress will likely be made, and then a determination can be made by any intervenor whether this is a sufficient venue or not.

Any other submissions on this issue?

Then I would suggest maybe we go on with the final questions for this panel and then we will break again to look at the handouts that Hydro One has provided.
Questions by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thanks, Mr. Thiessen.

Panel, my name is David Crocker and I represent AMPCO.  I have two questions on the Charles River report.  One of them I have circulated.  I had forgotten that we didn't circulate the question with the work that we did for you to comment on, and now you have that.

Let me ask the first question first.  Can whoever is operating the system go to page 12 of the Charles River report, please?

MR. DOREY:  Is it the rates report or the ETS study?

MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry.  It is attachment 1 -- let me think now.  Attachment 1 of the report, I think.  Sorry.

MR. DOREY:  Yes.  Is it the tariff study, the export transmission tariff study?  This document?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. DOREY:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  That's the main study, then?  Or the one that was attached as part of the IR?

MR. DOREY:  This is the review of rates in other jurisdictions.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  Which was copied as an IR, I believe?

MR. DOREY:  Yes, correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Page 12.

MR. DOREY:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  You see table 4.1?

MR. DOREY:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  You see the -- your note 2, where you say:

"ISO New England does not distinguish between firm and non-firm transmission services."

MR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  My question is:  Do you know their rationale for doing it the way they do it?

MR. SHAVEL:  No, I do not.

MR. CROCKER:  Is it something where it is fair of me to ask you to -- for an undertaking to find out and explain why?

MR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  If it is in there, if the rationale is in their FERC filing, yes, or easily accessible, we will do that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. THIESSEN:  That is Undertaking KT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.3:  to EXPLAIN WHY ISO NEW ENGLAND DOES NOT DISTINGUISH BETWEEN FIRM AND NON-FIRM TRANSMISSION SERVICES

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  My second question deals with the table that we have created.  And if you go to page 32 of the same document we're dealing with, and you look at table V(a)?

MR. SHAVEL:  Yes, we have that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You provide that transmission charges of 6.71 cents per megawatt-hour for capacity, plus 29 cents per megawatt-hour for energy, and what we've done is to use that and to give you two examples of how we have applied what you have said.

And we just want to know whether we're right.

MR. SHAVEL:  I think you are not, but subject to check -- and this would be another undertaking -- that the 671 in table V(a), Roman V(a) is -- would be applied in each hour.

So in your exhibit, the 100 megawatts, even if 50 megawatts per hour, would be two times the 335.  And the answer, the number would be the same in your example.  But we will check that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. SHAVEL:  Or perhaps slightly different because of the $29 a megawatt-hour, but we will check that.

MR. THIESSEN:  That is Undertaking KT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.4:  TO CONFIRM AMPCO’S SAMPLE CALCULATIONS

MR. CROCKER:  After all of that&, that is it for us.  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  Are there any other questions of this panel by anyone?

Then I think we will break to have a look at the responses provided in writing by Hydro One.  Do we need 20 minutes for that?

MR. CROCKER:  Just to follow through on Mr. Rubenstein's comments, I take it that this technical conference is the Board's attempt to provide a kind of discovery, and therefore a verbal give-and-take is, I think, something -- is an advantage to the process.

In order to determine whether there will be one on issues that we talked about, will there be someone here from Hydro One to deal with issue No. 3?

MR. COWAN:  Issue No. 3 is the load forecast CDM, and yes, there is going to be somebody here on the upcoming panel to deal with that.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  If there are no other comments, then let's reconvene at 11:30.  Twenty minutes.

--- Recess taken at 11:11 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:33 a.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  If we're ready to get started again, Hydro One has brought up a number of other witnesses.  So if they can be introduced, and then we can start with questions from intervenors.

MS. VARJACIC:  Sure.  Furthest away from everybody is Colin Fraser, manager of financial reporting and accounting policy, and he will be speaking to issues regarding and clarification questions about US GAAP, general accounting policies and variance accounts.

Next to Colin is Gary Beck, director of accounting and reporting.  He will be speaking about pensions and taking your questions on that.

Closest to you is Stan But, manager of economics and load forecasting, and he will be answering any questions you have about load forecasting and CDM.

And, finally, there is Allan Cowan, who we have already introduced this morning, who will field your questions on everything else.

[Laughter]
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MR. GIBBONS:  Can I volunteer to be the first volunteer to ask questions, please?

MR. THIESSEN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Make it short.
Questions by Mr. Gibbons:


MR. GIBBONS:  I will try to, definitely.  Thanks.

So Pollution Probe's questions are all with respect to your proposal to increase your transmission capacity to south central Guelph, because you're forecasting increased demand.

I would like to turn, first, to your response to our supplementary Question No. 2.  In our original -- in one of our original interrogatories, we asked for all of the reports of the Kitchener, Waterloo, Guelph, Cambridge working group which, according to Hydro One, the OPA has recommended or endorsed this proposed expansion.

So we asked for all of those reports.  We were told no reports exist.  So our supplementary question was:  Well, could we have the agendas and the minutes and the working papers of this working group?  And you haven't provided them to us.  I'm wondering if you could, please.

MR. COWAN:  This was a response certainly prepared in cooperation and by the OPA, and the OPA has chosen not to provide any further details than what you see there, Jack.

MR. GIBBONS:  So what's our next step?  Is it to bring a motion to the Board to compel Hydro One to or OPA to answer?  Is that the next step?

MR. COWAN:  That's probably your next step, Jack.

MR. GIBBONS:  Okay.  Well, hopefully you won't be found in contempt like the Minister, but...

[Laughter]

MR. GIBBONS:  If you could turn to our supplementary Question No. 3, according to your evidence, the existing transportation line to south central Guelph, its planning capacity is 100 megawatts, but in 2011 it actually delivered 115 megawatts.

And so we've asked for what's the distinction between planning and actual capacity, and you've given a bit of a response, but for a stupid person like me I still don't really get it.  So I am wondering if you can give me maybe more of an explanation.  What's the difference between planning and actual capacity?

MR. COWAN:  That's a question, Jack, that would best be asked in the hearing of panel number 3, where there will be the transmission planning people up, who are far more familiar with the intimate details of all of the major projects.

MR. GIBBONS:  Well, Allan, my client wants to hopefully make a deal with you in the ADR and solve this problem.  But to do that, we need to have good information so we can try to make a deal that is in the best interests of the people of Ontario.

And so we can't wait till the hearing.  We want to solve this in the ADR.  It means lower regulatory costs.  It means hopefully a better outcome for the people of Ontario.  I mean, can you help us?  Is this something we have to bring another motion?

MS. FRANK:  Jack, help us out.  What are you talking about solving?  I don't know what you mean by "solving".

MR. GIBBONS:  Well, you have a proposal to expand your transmission system to serve south central Guelph.  From what we understand so far, it is not clear to us that that is actually the best way to meet the needs.  We think the needs might be met at a lower cost by a combination of demand response, energy efficiency, distributed generation.

That is our initial intuition, but if we understood your case and your proposal better, I mean, maybe we could be convinced that what you are proposing is the best for the people of Ontario.

So the sooner we have all of the information so we can hopefully develop a position that really is in the best interests of the people of Ontario, the better.  I mean...

MS. FRANK:  Jack, if you know that the OPA has spent a lot -- this is an area where a lot of time has been spent
-- actually many years have been spent trying to assess what the best options are, and the OPA is now determining this is the best option.

There will also be - and coming very shortly - a section 92 leave to construct application.  I am not certain that -- there is not going to be any movement on our part, because we have to do what the OPA tells us to do.

You're saying you might agree with it if you had more, and I am not convinced that we're going to get a lot more from the OPA, because you can tell they've assisted us in these responses.

So that's where we go back.  We do have other planners that could help us later on, but you know the position that we're in, so...  And that panel will be up in any case, so...

MR. GIBBONS:  Well, no.  I mean, I think you're asking this Board to approve rate base or costs of service with respect to this project for the coming application.

And, yes, the OPA may think it is the best thing since sliced bread, but the OEB has an obligation to make its decisions based on evidence, not faith.

And so, again, we need this information.  And, again, the OEB, I believe, from listening to the Chair, really wants to reduce regulatory costs.  If we can solve this in an ADR instead of going through a laborious public hearing, surely that is the best course of action.  So, again --

MS. FRANK:  Jack, it won't be settled in an ADR, because this is also -- like I say, this particular project is subject to a leave to construct, a section 92.

So there is going to be a lot more time spent on this project.  And I would have to check on the in-service data.

MR. GIBBONS:  It is 2016, Susan.

MS. FRANK:  Therefore it is not in rate base.

MR. COWAN:  That's right.  So it doesn't impact rates, Jack.

MR. GIBBONS:  Well, that surprises me, because when I look at your evidence, it looks like there is costs for this thing in 2013 and 2014.

MR. COWAN:  Okay, Jack, there are capital expenditures.

MR. GIBBONS:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  And there are in-service expenditures.  It is the in-service that drives the rate base.

MR. GIBBONS:  Right.

MR. COWAN:  It is the rate base that drives the revenue requirement.

MR. GIBBONS:  Right.

MR. COWAN:  Since this project won't be in service until 2016, there won't be any rate impact until 2016, and the because of the half-year rule with rate base, only one-half of the project costs that go into service will drive any rate increases in 2016.  You won't even see the full rate impact until 2017.

MR. GIBBONS:  So you're saying there is absolutely no cost consequences of this thing for the 2013/2014 rates?

MR. COWAN:  It would be extremely de minimus, because you would be looking at maybe some financing costs of any material, but it would be so small to be de minimus.

MR. GIBBONS:  So why is this -- why is there information about this project in the evidence?

MR. COWAN:  Because we like to give the Board a heads-up as to what the overview capital spend program is for the company, and in the D evidence, we always identify three different categories of expenditure.  And in that evidence we say, basically, for those projects that are either going to need a section 92 or are going to be expenditures occurring in the test years, but won't go into service until after the test years, we want to advise the Board of the project so -- and get their comfort that this project makes sense.

MR. GIBBONS:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  But there will be no rate impact until the rate case where we actually present that expenditure to be included in service.

MR. GIBBONS:  Okay.  Well, that's helpful.  You're seeking the Board's comfort, and Pollution Probe also wants to have that comfort or lack of comfort based on evidence.

It can affect our submissions and our ADR position.  So that's, you know, why we're asking these questions.

MR. COWAN:  So the key, then, Jack, is to try to focus on projects that have an in-service date for this particular hearing with a 2013 or a 2014, because those are the projects that are going to impact rates.

MR. GIBBONS:  We're interested -- I mean, Pollution Probe makes its own determination of what projects it wants to focus on.  We're focussed on this one, which you're seeking the Board's comfort for.

This is a project where -- intuitively, it seems to us, that maybe the Board should not be comfortable with.

MS. FRANK:  And the Board will have an opportunity in the section 92.

MR. COWAN:  Because that's where it needs determined.

MR. GIBBONS:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  Is in a section 92.

MR. GIBBONS:  That's right, but you are also seeking comfort here, and so that's why we're here too.

MR. COWAN:  Major need will be determined in the section 92, Jack.  That's where you should focus your attention.

MR. GIBBONS:  Well, Allan, that's fine, but Pollution Probe doesn't get its directions for its interventions from Hydro One, with great respect.

And I am asking -- we are an intervenor in this proceeding.  I am asking with great respect to answer my questions, despite the fact that you may think that we're profoundly misguided and you may think I am the stupidest person in this room.

MR. COWAN:  I would never say that, Jack.

MR. GIBBONS:  Well, I'll just clarify; just misguided, maybe.

But anyway, can you answer my questions?

MR. COWAN:  I provided you with all of the clarification I can, Jack.

MR. GIBBONS:  Okay.  So you can't tell us the distinction between planning and actual capacity.

We know the planning capacity is 100 megawatts, and I see that by at least 2015 you're forecasting that the actual demand will be 131 megawatts, so presumably the actual capacity is at least 131 megawatts.

Can you tell me what the maximum actual capacity is?

MR. COWAN:  No, I can't.

MR. GIBBONS:  Can we get an undertaking?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, we can.

MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  That is Undertaking KT1.5.  Do you want to define that more succinctly, Jack?

MR. GIBBONS:  Yes.  We are looking for the actual capacity of the transmission line, the Hydro One transmission line that serves south central Guelph.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.5:  TO PROVIDE CURRENT ACTUAL CAPACITY OF HYDRO ONE TRANSMISSION LINE SERVING SOUTH CENTRAL GUELPH; to advise which ortec standard the transmission line or system is not compliant with.


MR. COWAN:  Currently?

MR. GIBBONS:  Currently, yes.  Absolutely, yes.

Okay.  Our next question is:  In your response to our Supplementary Question No. 3, you say that the existing transmission line or transmission system is not compliant with the ORTAC standards, and I am wondering if you can tell me specifically which standard that it doesn't meet under ORTAC.

MR. COWAN:  Again, that is obviously a question somebody from panel 3 would be able to respond to.  I certainly cannot.  We can include it in your last undertaking, if you wish.

MR. GIBBONS:  That would be great.  Thank you very much.

Then I guess maybe a few other questions for this undertaking.

And then, so these standards that Hydro One is not in compliance with, are these mandatory standards?  That would be my --

MR. COWAN:  We will confirm that, as well.

MR. GIBBONS:  -- third question.  Great.  Thank you, Allan.

The fourth question is:  Given that you are not in compliance with these standards, why are you not proposing to bring your system into compliance until 2016?

MR. COWAN:  And again, we will respond to that in the undertaking, but there is -- obviously there's a number of planning things have to be done.  There is the approval, the section 92 that has to be done.  So there is a number of steps that have to take.  And plus the complexity of the project, 2016 looks like the most reasonable date for getting the project completed and in service.

MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. THIESSEN:  It looks like VECC is next.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.  I volunteered to go second on behalf of CCC and third on behalf of VECC, so I only need a home run to hit for the cycle.

On behalf of CCC, there are two questions that I will put on the record for a response from the company.

The first question is in reference to Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 9.02, SEC 2, attachment 1.  The question is this:  Is Hydro One Networks seeking, in this application, to recover the costs related to investment and expenditure made, or required to be made, in order to fund the upgrades at up to 15 transmission stations pursuant to the February 28th, 2011 licence condition amendments made to HONI's transmission license?  If so, what are those costs?

MR. COWAN:  So as part of that licence amendment, Hydro One was not allowed to collect any costs from the ratepayers for those projects.

So no, there are absolutely no costs in this application.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And the second question is in relation to Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 10.01, CCC 1, attachment 2, page 4.  And the question is this:  What are the cost and rate impacts of complying with the government direction on the need to expand the transmission system to accommodate renewable generation?

MR. COWAN:  Just give me one minute while I find the reference for you.

Okay.  So in the evidence, the one project that would actually hit -- going back to our conversation with Jack -- test year is, if we looked at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, appendix A, page 2 of 11, table 2, project D.06, the re-conductoring of the Lambton TS to Longwood TS.

That has an in-service of the fourth quarter of 2014.  It has capital expenditures of $40 million.  So if you wanted to go through a high-level, simplistic revenue requirement on that, because it is '14, it would be a half-year, and then you go through an equity calculation, a debt calculation, depreciation calculation, that would probably all net out to -- again, rule of thumb -- probably around 1.5 million, somewhere in that range.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I understand from that there is one project that falls into this category that will affect rates in the test years?

MR. COWAN:  That's right.  And this one is the --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are there any other projects you're seeking approval for -- for example, a project that doesn't need a leave-to-construct application -- that may not have impacts in the test years but may have impacts in, say, 2015, 2016, for example?

MR. COWAN:  There are two other projects.  I believe the -- that's project D.05 in the same table, installation of static var compensation at Milton SS.  That has a 2015 in-service.

And also the -- there is also the new west of London line, which is, I think, 2016, 2017.  I am trying to remember, but it's well beyond the test year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But the Board will be approving those projects in this proceeding?  That's...

MR. COWAN:  They will be certainly approving capital expenditures as part of the submission, because some of the dollars for some of those projects are certainly included in the capital schedules.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

I am going to move on to my VECC questions, and I am going to go through my load forecast and revenue forecast questions while I am still relatively fresh.

I am going to start with VECC No. 17, and this -- the response to VECC No. 17 talks about embedded generation.  From that response, we note that the actual embedded generation values for 2009 to 2011 are all estimated by Hydro One.

MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how those estimates are developed and why it would be necessary to estimate values from historical years?

MR. BUT:  For Hydro One, we do not -- for those embedded generation projects, we do not have interval meters, and we only have a portion of those projects with interval meters.  So therefore we can only rely on the detailed informations to determine the actual.

The other projects are projects that, as I mentioned, we don't have interval meters, so therefore we are using the information that we have interval meters to compare the information we don't have interval meters, and we consider that to be reasonable and then we determine the actual.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then I just -- it sounds to me that you have some of the actuals for some of the generation, and then you use that data to extrapolate the generation from the projects you don't have -- or from the embedded generation you don't have data for?

MR. BUT:  In terms of our estimation procedures, we have embedded generation projects.  For example, if they would say install capacity, is there solar?  Where is wind or other type of technology?  So we have a list of all of the projects.

But in terms of determining -- so we know how much they will be coming in.  We know when they are coming in.  But in terms of actual, that require meter readings.  And Hydro One don't have meter readings for a portion of projects.

That is the reason why whatever information we can estimate is based on the actual information that we have, and then we look at that and compare with the other ones that we don't have information, and to see whether they're reasonable.  And that is the reason why at the end, we never call that number to be actual, because at the end it is only an estimate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So, for example, looking at VECC No. 17, part (a), it says here the actual amount of embedded generation for 2009 and 2010 is estimated to be 211 megawatts and 275 megawatts, respectively.

My understanding from your answer is that - and we will use the 211 megawatts as an example - a part of that is actual -- are actual values for embedded generation that you do have metering information for, and then the rest of it is an estimate?

MR. BUT:  It is an estimate of -- of the load, of the impact.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But, I mean, if you were to subdivide it into two categories, metered generation and unmetered generation, it sounds like you could divide the 211 into two parts, one where it is certain that these X number of projects have provided X amount of generation, and then the rest of it you have tacked on as an estimate based on whatever --


MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. BUT:  There are two parts of the estimate.  One has actual information that we can confirm.  The other part is we don't have actual information.  So we use the portion of the load with actual information to judge the reasonableness of the total estimates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you break out the numbers in part (a) of that interrogatory response at VECC No. 17 between the actual and the estimated parts?  So how much of it is actual, and then how much of it you added on as an estimate, just to get a sense of how much of the overall number is an estimate?

MR. BUT:  We can do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  That would be undertaking KT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.6:  TO PROVIDE BREAKOUT BETWEEN ACTUAL AND ESTIMATED NUMBERS IN VECC INTERROGATORY No. 17(A).

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Moving on to VECC No. 18 at part (a), as part of their 2012 and 2013 cost of service applications, various LDCs have provided the OPA's final 2011 report on their individual CDM activities.

Are the 2011 provincial results available yet from the OPA?

MR. BUT:  I believe they're available.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If they are, can you provide them and compare them with the 2011 forecast that is included in the application?

MR. BUT:  With respect to the provincial numbers?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. BUT:  No -- yes, we can do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You started with no.

[Laughter]

MR. BUT:  The reason I want to clarify is actually because Hydro One Distribution receive a report of the 2011 results, but as part of the report, we also receive the provincial results.

That is the reason it is not a report that belongs to Hydro One.  It is a report that belongs to OPA.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But if you have it --


MR. BUT:  We have it and --


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- provide it, and then use it to reconcile with the forecast that you have in your application, okay?

MR. BUT:  We can do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  That will be KT1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. kt1.7:  TO PROVIDE OPA REPORT REFERRED TO IN VECC INTERROGATORY No. 18 AND PROVIDE RECONCILIATION WITH 2011 FORECAST.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, moving on to VECC No. 21 at part (b), are the actuals used by Hydro One in its load forecast modelling based on the OPA's recorded or reported CDM results?

MR. BUT:  As you know, we got the directive from the last hearing, EB-2010-0002.  We worked with the OPA closely to come up with the CDM analysis.  And in this application, all of the CDM impact information is provided by the OPA.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I want to be careful.  You're taking their reported CDM results and using them?

MR. BUT:  We are using -- we are using the forecast provided by the OPA.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, if that is the case, wouldn't that overstate program impacts in the year of introduction, as noted in the response to part (a)?

MR. BUT:  Can you elaborate on your question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you look at part (a), we ask the question:  Is Hydro One aware of the OPA's approach to reporting CDM savings for the programs in the year they are initiated?

And the answer was yes, which would suggest to us that because of that methodology for reporting, if you take their numbers and use them without adjusting them into your load forecast, you may be overstating the program impacts as a result.

MR. BUT:  That would be incorrect, because, yes, we are aware of the information, as we responded in part (a), but that saving is what we call the EM&V savings results of the 2011.

But in terms of the 2011 numbers, when we use it, it was a forecast that we got from the OPA.  So, therefore, there is no adjustment required.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, what I'm saying, though, is their forecast results, they have a particular way of reporting or recording the first year impacts.  And because of that, they would overstate the actual impacts in the year.  That is my understanding.

MR. BUT:  I don't think so, because we are talking about two different concepts.  One concept is your programs, and after nine months of the previous year, and then you have really detailed EM&V results.  That pertains you have based on those programs.

But in terms of coming up with a particular year estimate, it is a forecast of the entire year.  So I assume that the forecast for 2011, 2012, 2013 take all of that into consideration.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So you don't see -- for the purposes of your load forecast modelling, the data that you use from the OPA doesn't suffer from this peculiarity of using a full year impact for the year of introduction?

MR. BUT:  No.  We don't think any so-called discounting is required.

For the purposes -- just for clarity, for the purposes for an LRAM discussion for LDC, that may be relevant for 2011, but for the purpose of transmissions, we are talking about a forecast of all of the LDCs provided by the -- in terms of the estimate, that cover all of the LDCs, province-wide LDC programs, plus others, as well.

So, therefore, there is no estimate that we need to do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Moving on to VECC No. 22, part (f), can you confirm that what the OPA gave Hydro One was the monthly load shape for the load under DR contracts?

MR. BUT:  Can you repeat your question, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm that what the OPA gave Hydro One was the monthly load shape for the load under demand response contracts?

MR. BUT:  That is not the monthly load shape.  It is the hourly load shape.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Hourly load shape?

MR. BUT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Can you confirm that --


MR. BUT:  Based on the hourly load shape, because you can get the monthly estimates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Can you confirm demand response is not automatically activated every month, but, rather, its activation depends on system conditions?  For example, it is activated when the system is stressed, and that one of the main reasons for this would be, for example, extreme weather?

MR. BUT:  The demand response program is being managed by OPA and IESO.  So I would assume that when the system require demand response activation, it will be activated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now, was it Hydro One that decided to reduce the monthly peaks by this full amount, or did the OPA tell you that the DR load should be assumed to be fully activated each month?

MR. BUT:  The DR impact forecast was provided by the OPA, and Hydro One used that information and we translated that into -- our calculation into load forecast.  So this is a reduction that we need to take into consideration.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the OPA gave you the --


MR. BUT:  They gave us the CDM impact attributed to the demand response.  So that is a reduction in our load forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can you get from the OPA the information that supports the use of data in that way?  I.e., data as requested in part (e) of this question.

So in (e) we asked:

"In what months of each year 2006 to 2011 were the megawatts under contract for load management/demand response activated?"

We would like to see that from the OPA, because -- and I think you can see where I'm going with this -- if you're using for modelling purposes the assumption that you're getting full demand response activation in every month, where in actuality we expect that is not the case, then you may be overstating the impact.

If it was the OPA that told you to do that, then presumably they have a rationale for doing so and we would like to see that.

MR. BUT:  The reason why we did not get this information from the OPA, because it involves commercial informations, that is considered to be confidential.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, then you could presumably submit it on a confidential basis.

MS. VARJACIC:  We can try.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So an undertaking to provide it on a confidential basis, and then if you have a problem with it, you will let us know?

MR. BUT:  Okay.

MR. THIESSEN:  Undertaking KT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.8:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO VECC INTERROGATORY No. 22, part (E)


MS. VARJACIC:  I think the undertaking will be that we will make the request and we will let you know what response we receive.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And assuming you get it and that you are going to be producing it on a confidential basis, it will include the -- fulfil the requirements of filing things under confidentiality?

MS. VARJACIC:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Moving on to part (g) --


MR. BUT:  Before you do that, can I make a correction?  I found a typo in question 22.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. BUT:  I would like to make a correction.  Under (g), by resource type, they currently, on the left-hand side by resource type, "customer-based generation," it should be "demand response."  And on the next page, the writing is "demand response" and actually it should be "customer-based generation."

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  My next question was:  Were those columns reversed?

[Laughter]


MR. BUT:  I have the right forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Very good.  Good for you.

I don't know if you are going to leave it at the record or reissue a corrected response.

MR. COWAN:  We will do a blue page for that, Michael.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And then my last load forecasting question, VECC No. 24, part (a):

"Can you please explain why the chart determinants for the historical years are estimated as opposed to being based on actual values used to bill transmission customers?  And how was the estimation done?"

MR. BUT:  Basically, we are using the actual information and using the maximum or the – 85 maximum coincident or 85 percent, that rule, consistent with the charge determinant rules, to derive the estimate for those charge determinants for the historical years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand what you're saying.  Are you saying you're using the actual load?

I am just trying to figure out why it would turn into a -- at some point into an estimate.  Why wouldn't it be the actual charge determinant values?

MR. BUT:  We do not call that actual charge determinants, because they are -- at that time there was no charge determinants, per se.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm afraid I don't understand.

MR. BUT:  Because we are going back to history.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. BUT:  And at that time there was no charge determinants.  It was only based on an estimate.  Based on actual data, we -- and then we calculate the -- so that's the reason why we call that estimated charge determinants.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you can't –- if I asked the question what was the actual charge determinant for a particular year, you can't do that?  You can just estimate what was charged?

MR. BUT:  Because the charge determinant is called charge determinant -- it is a matter of definition.  A charge determinant is a charge determinant only if that was approved by the Board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what you can tell -- presumably there is an approved charge determinant for that year?

MR. BUT:  Exactly.  So -- but --


MR. BUONAGURO:  What was actually charged is a function of the load and other factors?  I am trying to figure out why it is an estimate.

MR. BUT:  It is a matter of labelling the terminology.  So we don't call that charge determinant, because we are using information to estimate that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I will leave it at that.  Thank you.

So I am moving away from load forecast.  I am starting with, under the general issues, No. 2:

"Is the overall increase in 2013/2014 revenue requirement reasonable?"

I am starting with some questions that are a combination of questions resulting from OEB No. 13 and OEB No. 15.  They both refer, I believe, to Exhibit A17, tab 2, page 9, table 4.  It might be useful to put that up.  Page 9 of Exhibit A17, schedule 2.

So my understanding is these are some of your performance metrics; is that correct?

MR. COWAN:  One more to get here, Michael.

So that was A17, tab 2, page 9, table 4.

Okay.  Yes, these are some of the performance metrics used by the Hydro One board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, I think some simple questions to start.

Is a smaller value of the percentage of capital and OM&A per fixed gross asset metric preferable to a larger value?

So, for example, if your target there is 10.1 percent, you actually -- a lower target would be better?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, it would.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And in OEB No. 13, you provide the actual results for the 2009 to 2011 for this metric?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, we do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you provide the corresponding targets for 2009 to 2011?

MR. COWAN:  I don't have that with me.  We could provide it, though.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I will take that undertaking.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.9:  TO PROVIDE CORRESPONDING TARGETS FOR 2009 TO 2011

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, again with respect to OEB No. 13, if the application were to be approved as filed and the actual spending and CAPEX were to come out as forecast, would the targets for 2013 and 2014 that we see in the table at Exhibit A17 be exactly met?  Is that how that works?

MR. COWAN:  The forecast, the -- yes, if the forecasts unfolded exactly as the business plan that supports this, unfolded exactly, that should be the targets, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Can you confirm that the numerator for this metric for any given year is the capital spending plus the OM&A for the year?

MR. COWAN:  That is my understanding.  Or forecast, if it is a projection.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And for any given year, is the gross fixed assets in the denominator the opening balance of gross fixed assets for the year, the mid-year balance, or something else?

MR. COWAN:  That one I am not quite sure on.  It could be an average.  It could be the year-end.  I just am not sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you can answer that by way of undertaking?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.10:  TO EXPLAIN WHETHER GROSS FIXED ASSETS IN THE DENOMINATOR THE OPENING BALANCE OF GROSS FIXED ASSETS FOR THE YEAR, THE MID-YEAR BALANCE, OR SOMETHING ELSE

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the lowest value for this metric, either -- if we're talking about the actuals for 2009 to 2011 or the targets for 2012 to 2014, was 9.8 percent in 2011, which appears to us a lot lower than the 11.8 percent that occurs in 2009 and the 11.2 percent that occurs in 2010.  Does this mean that Hydro One was a lot more efficient in 2011 than in the preceding two years?

MR. COWAN:  It can be driven by -- these numbers are obviously driven by the level of expenditure in any given year.

And in certain years, if you have a much higher capital program or that, it's going to impact the results of the numbers, because fixed assets won't grow at the same level as some of these others.

So that's one of the key drivers, is:  What is the level of the work program's spend?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So, for example, you could lower the metric and, therefore, increase the perceived performance just by reducing capital expenditures over a period of one or more years while keeping the OM&A flat?

MR. COWAN:  That would be the nature of the math.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Then just a last question on this area.  As a matter of arithmetic, would you agree that if the same amount is added to both the numerator and the denominator of a positive fraction that is less than 1.0, the fraction will increase?  That is a hello from James Wightman.

MR. COWAN:  Subject to check, I can accept that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Moving on to -- well, I think I answered myself but, in EP No. 4, part (b), and SEC No. 21, you were asked about retirement bonuses.

The question I had was:  Are or were there retirement bonuses provide to PWU and SEC employees -- SEP, I guess, employees?

MR. COWAN:  Sorry, that was EP 4 and --


MR. BUONAGURO:  (b), and SEC No. 21.

MR. COWAN:  SEC No. 21?  So I am looking at the response to Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 3.04, EP 4.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  And (b) part of that response.  So the retirement bonus applies to all regular PWU and Society-represented employees.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. COWAN:  As well as regular MCP employees hired prior to 2004.  MCP employees hired after that date do not get the retirement bonus.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, my question was:  Are or were retirement bonuses provided to PWU and SEP employees pursuant to any provisions in the collective agreements?  I see at part (c) you say the average retirement bonus in 2011 was approximately $8,300.  Do you see that?  So presumably that means there was a payout.

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have the total payout, just as a matter of scale?

MR. COWAN:  No, I don't.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you provide that by way of undertaking?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, we could.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.11:  TO PROVIDE TOTAL PAYOUT OF 2011 RETIREMENT BONUSES.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I am going to be referring to VECC No. 3 and VECC No. 4, which -- VECC No. 3 has to do with charges by Hydro One Inc. to Hydro One Networks and other affiliates.

And the response to part (a) of that interrogatory, along with the evidence at Exhibit A, tab 8, schedule 3, appendix A, page 8, the prefiled evidence, shows that the charges from Hydro One to Hydro One Networks fell from 5.0938 million in 2011 to $4.955 million in 2012, a decrease of 2.7 percent.

MR. COWAN:  I'll still getting to the exhibit.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was going to ask if you wanted the reference again.

MR. COWAN:  Just give me a moment.  So it is A8, schedule 3.  Which table were you looking at?

MR. BUONAGURO:  A-8-3, appendix A, page 8.

MR. COWAN:  Appendix A, page 8.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  The point is, sir, the question is the charges dropped in 2012 and they are increasing again in 2013 and 2014.  I just wanted an explanation for what is happening to drive that drop, and then the increase.

MR. COWAN:  So which is the specific line there you are looking at?

MR. BUONAGURO:  The charges from Hydro One Inc. to Hydro One Networks drops from 5.0938 million in 2011 to $4.955 million in 2012, a decrease of 2.7 percent.

MR. COWAN:  I am having a hard time seeing those numbers, so that's where -- if you could point me to the specific?

I see -- I am looking at schedule A of VECC 3, and I see total services to be provided by Hydro One Inc. to Hydro One Networks for the total of 5.1 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  Right.  And then you are comparing that to --


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- 4.955 in 2012, which I believe is from the A-8-3, appendix A, page 8 reference, assuming I have the reference correct.

MR. COWAN:  I get 161 on the A-8-3, appendix A.  I am in appendix B, that's why.  Yes, mm-hm.

Offhand, I can't explain that.  That is a good question for our panel 1, though, or panel 4 I guess would be a better one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you are asking me to ask that at the oral hearing?

MR. COWAN:  I am asking you to ask it at the oral hearing, if you prefer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, if I prefer.  That sounds like you I could get an undertaking.

MR. COWAN:  You could, too.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That sounds good.  I will ask for an undertaking, so then I can ask about the undertaking.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.12.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So an explanation between what is driving the decrease in 2011 and 2012 then why it increases back up again in the test years.

MR. COWAN:  That would be fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.12:  TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION BETWEEN WHAT IS DRIVING THE DECREASE IN 2011 AND 2012, AND WHY IT INCREASES UP AGAIN IN THE TEST YEARS, WITH REFERENCE TO VECC NO. 3 AND VECC NO. 4.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then VECC No. 4 is regarding services provided by Hydro One Networks to Hydro One Inc. and other affiliates.

It's a similar question.  According to VECC No. 4(a), the revenues to Hydro One Networks associated with the services it provides to Hydro One Inc. and affiliates totalled 4.6329 million in 2011, and then decreases to 3.99 million in 2012, a decrease of 13.9 percent.

The reference for that second number in 2012, the 3.99 million, is Exhibit A, tab 8, schedule 3, appendix B.

MR. COWAN:  Mm-hm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which may have been where you were looking before, page 8, schedule A.

MR. COWAN:  Again, we will add that to the same undertaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine, thank you.  So you are explaining the 13.9 percent, it appears, decrease?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, mm-hm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now a very quick one.  Looking at VECC 4(b), part -- so part (b) of VECC No. 4, there is a reference to Exhibit A, tab 8, schedule 3, page 8, but I think it actually should be page 6.  Can we take that, subject to check, as a correction to the reference, or you can look it up, if you'd like.

MR. COWAN:  So on VECC 4?

MR. BUONAGURO:  VECC 4, number (b).

MR. COWAN:  Number (b).

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is right at the end of the response, right at the end of page 3.

MR. COWAN:  Right.  I have it here now.  And you're saying the new agreement, costs similar to those shown on Exhibit A, tab 8, schedule 3, page 8?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I think the reference should have been to page 6.

MR. COWAN:  And it should have been page 6, I agree.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, looking at that page 6 at table 2, the total revenues associated with services provided by Hydro One Networks to Hydro One Inc. and other affiliates for the years 2012, 2013 and 2014 are 2.57 million, 2.6 million and 2.6 -- almost six-five million respectively.

And you see in Exhibit A, tab 8, schedule 3, page 6, table 2 for 2012, we're wondering whether there should be entries for other services of 375,000 for Hydro One Remotes, and 1,031,000 for Hydro One Telecom Inc.  We were expecting to see those numbers there, and we didn't.

MR. COWAN:  We will have to confirm that.  I can't tell from here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what we're getting from the evidence is that you are not expecting any revenue from other services provided in either 2013 and 2014 for Hydro One Remotes and for Hydro One Telecom Inc., and we would like an explanation for why that would be the case.

MR. COWAN:  This is saying that we are -- fees payable by affiliates to Networks.  There are charges from remotes of 267,000 for corporate services, 274 in '13, 284.

So this table does show charges from Remotes coming to Networks.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  So I don't see why you say there is nothing here, because this table is showing exactly the fees, by year, these various entities paid to Hydro One Networks.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Moving on to VECC No. 6, and this has to do with the definition of bulk electric systems.  Just to confirm, it says:

"There are no dollar impacts of the proposed BES definition included in this application."

Do you expect to incur any costs associated with the proposed change in definition of bulk electric system in either 2013 or 2014?

MR. COWAN:  No.  Not at this stage.  I think it -- that is discussed in, I believe, A19 in some detail.  Just let me turn it up.

It's on the government legislation exhibit.  There is some description there on BES, and there is some discussion there in that evidence which basically says that Hydro One is working with the IESO, hopefully to get basically some form of exemption from the BES-type definitions that, you know, the regulatory people are -- and there is absolutely no costs in this application for that.  And the reason is, as the exhibit shows, is they're saying there could be up to, like, 700 million of added expense if the BES definition is staying.  So obviously we're working very hard to make sure that that does not apply to Ontario, because I don't think the ratepayers would like that too much.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think you might be right.

VECC No. 8, and this has to do with escalation of costs.  And I am looking at number -- the response at (a), (iv), separate escalators for the US and Canada are not calculated.

Is there data from any Canadian utilities included in the data to construct the escalators for transmission costs for construction, or for O&M?

MR. BUT:  We subscribe to a service from Global Insight.  And I don't have an answer to your question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you don't know if that includes Canadian data; is that what you're saying?

MR. BUT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that something you can answer by way of undertaking?

MR. BUT:  This is a service that we bought from Global Insights, regarding cost escalation for power plants, transmission, distribution, and it is up to the consultant in developing the forecast what information they will include.  And --


MR. BUONAGURO:  So Global Insights know what data they use, but they haven't told you?

MR. BUT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

The response to part (b) of this interrogatory only seems to show what Hydro One forecasted as a cost escalator for any given year versus Global Insights' actual historical results for OM&A for 2003 to 2010, or versus Global Insights' forecasts for those same years for construction for 2003 to 2012, and for O&M for 2011 and 2012?

MR. BUT:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is this any evidence that the forecasts provided in (b) are at all close to the actual escalation in transmission costs experienced by Hydro One Networks historically, either for OM&A or for construction?

MR. BUT:  Again, this table provide a comparison based on the information from the forecast report from Global Insights, and so this is what the table is comparing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  What I am asking you is -- presumably Hydro One has a sense of what it actually experienced in those same years, and we're trying to find out how accurate the escalation that was forecasted by Global Insights was, compared to your actual experience.

MR. BUT:  The cost escalation estimate is used as -- for planning purposes.  Based on the best of my knowledge, I don't think we have done any actual comparisons of Hydro One's specific cost escalations.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you don't know how accurate they were?

MR. BUT:  Compared to Hydro One's experience?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. BUT:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, through -- the combination of the responses at part (a)(v) and (b) of the reference response indicate to us that the actual historical values for the transmission construction cost escalator are never made public.

How could it ever be determined whether Global Insights' forecasts of this escalator have any predictive value at all, either for US utilities or for Hydro One?

MR. BUT:  Again, in the industry, Global Insights' power cost planner information is the -- perhaps the only report available in North America used by all the LDCs and utilities in North America.

So this is the only information available.  So I guess the response to your question is:  If you don't use this information, what other information we could use?

This is much more specific, in terms of transmission and distribution equipment and construction information, compared to an average CPI, for example, which relates to a general economy.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My question, though, is:  How do we test its accuracy if we never get to put it on the record?

MR. BUT:  I agree with you, it is difficult.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

I am going to CCC No. 3, and here, you were asked about Hydro One's corporate organization change since 2011 and 2012, since the 2011 and 2012 application, and you were asked how that impacted the revenue requirement.

And you say Hydro One Networks' corporate organization has changed since the 2011, 2012 application and that there is no impact on revenue requirement.

Can you elaborate on those changes or point me to -- I am assuming that there is evidence somewhere in there that describes the organization.

MR. COWAN:  There is certainly the org chart, which shows the executive structure of the organization.  And that is in A8, schedule 1, if we go to page 3.  And you see figure 2 there, you can see an organization chart.

The organizational change basically was an internal restructuring of our executive group and some repositioning there, different titles, things like that.

So it really had no impact on revenue requirement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So when I read, for example, in this response, it says:

"To streamline decision-making at the executive level and enhance alignment within and between corporate and organizational groups."

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am wondering if there are any cost savings associated with these changes.

MR. COWAN:  That would really be a discussion for panel 1.

There were some -- obviously these changes were made to promote efficiencies, communications and things like that.  So probably implicit in that, there would be some.  But can I quantify it today?  Probably not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I've got four question areas left, just to give you an update.  I don't know what the time -- I can barely see the clock there.

MR. THIESSEN:  How long will that take, do you think?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I suspect maybe 15 minutes.

MR. THIESSEN:  Are you all okay with staying another 15 minutes before we break for lunch?

MR. COWAN:  Sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am asking some questions now about OM&A.  I am looking at OEB No. 26, and hopefully this will be a quick one.

MR. COWAN:  What issue are you on, now, Mike, just so I know?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I forgot the hierarchy.  It is operation, maintenance and administration costs, number 5, proposed spending levels, so on and so on.

MR. COWAN:  Issue 5, and it is OEB number?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Twenty-six.

MR. COWAN:  Twenty-six, okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you're going to turn to it, I have to turn to it, too, so just give me a second.

Okay, thank you.  Now, can you take it subject to check that based on this response, which provides the eight-year period 2006 to 2014, if we were to translate these numbers into equivalent annual increases, compounded annual increases, they would be -- first, it would be a 3.82 percent compounded annual increase for OM&A, a 0.1 percent compounded annual increase for transmission circuit kilometres, and 6.15 percent compounded annual increase for GFA, or gross fixed assets, so taking these -- taking this progression and changing it into a compounded annual increase?  Will you take those numbers subject to check?

MR. COWAN:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, moving to OEB No. 31, the response states, in part, that the transformers replaced over the 2007 to 2011 period have not kept up with the rate of fleet degradation.  This is the reason why there is still growth in the number of transformers in very poor condition.

Can you discuss why Hydro One would not have made, presumably, the sustaining capital expenditures for transformer replacements in this period in order to avoid an increasing level of fleet degradation?

MR. COWAN:  That is a subject -- I think the whole entire sustainment program and the investment, that really is something that we really should discuss at the hearing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I will give you that one.  Thank you.

In reference to VECC No. 31 - and this is under issue number 6 under OM&A - do you agree or can you confirm that in shared services and other costs, Hydro One overspent the Board-approved amount by $11.1 million or 34 percent in 2011, and by $44.6 million or 164 percent in 2012?

MR. COWAN:  Let's go to the exhibit before we answer that.  So I am going to go to C1, tab 3, schedule 1.

And you were looking at pages 5 and 6 as your reference point, and was that 2011, Michael, your question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  In shared service and other costs, overspent the Board-approved amount by 11.1 million or 34 percent in 2011, and by $44.6 million or 164 percent in 2012.

MR. COWAN:  If you look at those as bottom-line shared services increase, that could be the perception one may have, but shared service is made up of a number of different components.

And when the Board actually makes an adjustment in a decision to cut, let's say, OM&A, we don't pyramid it back through all of the various sustaining development operations.

We take it off as a bottom-line adjustment.  It just so happens it lands in the shared service category, shared service "other".

So the actual costs of shared service, if you normalize for that adjustment, is pretty flat or even decreasing, depending on the department.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, okay.  So we're looking -- I am going to translate what you just told me to see if I understand it.

MR. COWAN:  There is an IR there that shows that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You're looking at the -- I am looking at the 2012 Board-approved amount, and I see the figure for shared services of 27.2 million.  And you're saying that is not actually what happens in shared services in 2012.  The actual number is something different?

MR. COWAN:  The Board-approved amount would be the 418.8, right?  So let's say the Board cut something.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. COWAN:  Right.  And I can't remember offhand now whether it was $20 million, or what was it, but that $20 million, we wouldn't have said, okay, 10 million is going to come off sustainment, 5 million is going to come off development, you know, 3 million off this, 2 million off that.

We would say we will take it all and show it in the 32.6 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  So maybe that number really was 42.6.  That's what I'm trying to say.  That's why you see such a huge variance in the shared services.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to see if I can -- is that variance or that perceived variance limited to comparing it to the Board-approved because that is how you handle flowing through Board-approved amounts?  If I look at the actuals for 2012, it will show, quote/unquote, the real story?

MR. COWAN:  The 2012 Board-approved, again, would have that similar adjustment.

Our projection would show where we think the spend is going right now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  So right now the projection is that our OM&A will be only 4.2 percent above Board-approved.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I think I understand.  Thank you.

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my last question has to do with capital expenditures and rate base, issue number 12.

It is a similar type of question as my last one, but on the other side.  From OEB No. 55 and CCC No. 30, it appears to us that for the period 2007 to 2011, in each year the actual transmission capital spending was less than the Board-approved amount, that the cumulative underspending on transmission capital was $675.7 million in that period, the average annual underspend on transmission capital was $135.14 million, and, lastly, the average Board-approved transmission capital spending was $920.7 million.

That's what it appears to us.  I'm wondering if you agree that that is the case.

MR. COWAN:  Certainly the numbers, the schedules there on that response to Staff 55, show the actuals versus Board-approved, and the negative variances are as stated in that interrogatory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You explained to me why my perception on the OM&A was skewed because of the way you handle OM&A cuts related to a decision when doing Board-approved.

Is there something else going on here, or is this simply underspending relative to the Board-approved amounts?

MR. COWAN:  When you look at the main drivers, you can see it is basically in the work programs, mainly, and it is just timing differences with projects.

You have to remember transmission is multi-year projects.  It is subject to many external, you know, variations.  Need for outages, often times the customers have to get approvals or, you know, there would be environmental, whatever.  Often times that leads to different project delays and that.

At the end of the day, of course it is the in-service numbers that are the ones -- the better comparison.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. THIESSEN:  I think that we shall break from, at this point, quarter to 1:00 until quarter to 2:00, and come back promptly and PWU will be going next.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:44 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:46 p.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Shall we get started?

At this point, we did a quick canvass of all of the intervenors, and it looks like we will be able to finish by the end of today, we hope, depending on how things go.

But I think it was agreed that PWU would go first this afternoon.
Questions by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thanks.  The first question I have is this:  Do you have with you the PWU questions that we submitted for this conference?

You gave us an answer to one of them this morning.  And we asked a total of four questions, and I just wanted to confirm that the reason we didn't get the other four is because they were -- as Hydro One indicated -- inappropriate for the hearing.

MR. COWAN:  That's correct, Richard.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Can I ask at least one follow-up question?  Because I think this is -- I would hope we can clarify this one, and it is the very first question, which is specifically in reference to a response to an undertaking question, where we asked the simple question:  Was there an error in the answer when you said EOL, end-of-life, did you really mean expected service life?

Presumably it is a yes or no answer to that question.

MR. COWAN:  I can tell you that from what I understand, is -– meaning people are looking at that question.  The answer is no, there is no error.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  All righty.  Let me move away from that.

The other questions I had for you actually arise from a question that Board Staff asked of you in their questions.  This is dealing with the issue of pensions, and in particular the pension contributions for at least the members of my client, the PWU.

In particular, it is at -- it's Question No. 14 on the Board Staff list.  And they asked you the question about an excerpt from the decision of the Board in the last case, which made reference to its desire that Hydro One progress towards moving to a 50 percent contribution level on pensions, from the position which I recollect in the evidence as being somewhere in the low 20 percents.

So you are familiar with that -- that issue, that there is interest in the progression by Hydro One toward a 50 percent contribution level?

MR. COWAN:  And in response to the Staff 14 on page 5 of 5 of the information handed out today --

MR. STEPHENSON:  You told them to go to heck?

MR. COWAN:  We said that really should be discussed at the oral hearing.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I just actually want to see if there is some clarification that I can get around this, because
-- and if it's all for the oral hearing, you just tell me.

But as I understand -- and I want to make sure I understand what Hydro One understands -- this 50 percent number that appears in the Board's last decision, the basis for that number, as Hydro One understands it, was some information that Hydro One, in fact, provided in response to an undertaking at the hearing; am I right about that?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the response in particular was a response that -- where Hydro One was asked to provide -- to see if it could find some data about other employers, and it went out and found some data about other employers and it gave it.  That is essentially what was going on?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And in particular, in those -- in the -- amongst the data, two of the entities that were referred to were an entity called the Ontario Pension Board and the Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan.  Those were two of the entities, right?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And both of them have a 50/50 contribution level?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And -- and those were the only ones in the interrogatory or the -- sorry, it was an undertaking response -- that had 50/50 arrangements?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And all of the other ones, the employee contributions were less?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so -- I don't know if you know the answer to this, but I understand that both the Ontario Pension Board and the Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan are something called a jointly sponsored pension plan.  Do you know whether that is true or not?

MR. BECK:  I understand the Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan is a jointly sponsored plan, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the Pension Board has a specific agreement that it is going to be 50/50 as a part of a memorandum of understanding; do you know that?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Is the Hydro One pension plan a jointly sponsored pension plan?

MR. BECK:  It is not.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And can you help us at all as to whether these are similar, or -- what is the differences between these two things?  Are they comparable at all, or are they totally different?

MR. BECK:  The main intent of a jointly sponsored pension plan is to share responsibility for the funding of the plan, and often that is considered equal.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Whereas, I take it, in a traditional defined pension plan, which is what the Hydro One plan is, it is the employer's responsibility at the end of the day to ensure that it is fully funded?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But the quid pro quo for that is when the plan is in surplus, it is the employer's benefit?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so this issue about the PWU contribution being in around the 20 percent range for this contribution, that was not the case when the Hydro One pension plan was in surplus, was it?

MR. BECK:  Yes.  It was not the case.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  In fact, at that time the employer's contribution was zero.  They took a contribution holiday, right?

MR. BECK:  Yes.  Hydro One took a contribution holiday.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And at that time, PWU contribution was 100 percent?

MR. BECK:  PWU and all employees continued to contribute.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The employee contribution was 100 percent.

Whereas in these jointly sponsored plans, it is always 50/50; that is just the split all the way along?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  By definition?

MR. BECK:  In the example of the Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan, if the employer decided to take a contribution holiday, so would the members, the employees.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Okay.  Then just the last issue around this point is that there's evidence in your -- in the prefile about the fact that, in the most recent PWU collective agreement, there was an increase in the employee's contribution to the plan by 0.5 percent.

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I understand it, that is -- it went from four percent of base earnings or whatever the metric is to four-and-a-half percent.  That is the half a percent?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I just want to make sure that I am clear about how -- what that actually means.

From the perspective of the person who is making the contributions, the amount that they pay didn't go up by 0.5 percent.  In other words, if they were paying $100 before, they weren't paying -- it's not now 100 and whatever it is, $100.50?

MR. BECK:  There would be many factors to the denominator of that equation, including any compensation increases, merit increases, et cetera.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let's hold all else equal.  Let's not make anything complicated.  In fact, it goes up by 12-and-a-half percent, right?

MR. BECK:  Four-and-a-half percent versus four percent is a 12-and-a-half percent increase, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So for actual dollars to the payer, it is a 12-and-a-half percent increase?

MR. BECK:  For that item, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, panel.  We will be asking questions on behalf of Energy Probe, first, Mr. Higgins has a few questions in addition to the ones you answered in writing, and I have some questions, and I believe Mr. MacIntosh has a question on behalf of London Property Management Association.

So, Roger.
Questions by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  By way of starting into this, could we provide an exhibit number for the questions that are going to be answered in writing so that we will have it on the record?

MR. THIESSEN:  I think we did.

DR. HIGGIN:  Did we?

MR. THIESSEN:  1.1, that is the package.

DR. HIGGIN:  It is not in the package; that's the point.

MR. THIESSEN:  Sorry?

DR. HIGGIN:  It is not in the package.  It is coming.  It is to come.

MS. VARJACIC:  Those were only received yesterday, so we're working on the answers.

MR. THIESSEN:  I see.  Why don't we then make it Exhibit JT1.2.?
EXHIBIT NO. JT1.2:  ENERGY PROBE TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS.

DR. HIGGIN:  All right.  Thank you.

So now I am just going to try and see if we can get some partial answers to some of these questions, because I am trying to streamline the process here, and, if we have some of those partial answers, that will, I hope, reduce the amount of cross-examination and stuff down the line.  That is my objective.  So I am going to try and see where we go on that.

So I am going to start, then, with Energy Probe TCQ No. 2, which is part of the other revenue forecast.  And there are really only two components to this.  One deals with the other revenue, and the other with the export revenue.

One of the questions was:  Have you any updates for these forecasts?  And so can I say that the reference would be Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 2.01, LPMA 6, 9 and 10.  That deals with both the other revenue and the export revenues.

So the question is:  First of all, do you have and can you provide any updates to those forecasts, starting with the other revenue forecast?

MR. COWAN:  We don't have an update, Roger.  We didn't provide a blue page update, Roger, for that particular item.

DR. HIGGIN:  And you have no information to update that at the moment?

MR. COWAN:  And there is variance accounts to track any differences for these, anyways.

DR. HIGGIN:  And the same goes for the export revenue forecast?  There is no updates available?

MR. COWAN:  No.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  We will leave the other questions as is.

Let's go, then, to the Energy Probe TCQ No. 4, and the references here are Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 3.03, and that is Energy Probe 3.  That is about inflation forecasts, et cetera.  And the other is Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 3.14, Energy Probe 41 and 42.

I can understand why you may say you wouldn't want answers (a) and (b) to this, but the third component is:  Show the impact, which is a numerical calculation, on the 2013, 2014 compensation and revenue requirement of a COLA cap of 2 percent, incentive pay frozen to 2011 levels - that is as a base percent of base pay - and a freeze on leaving bonuses.

And we are asking for numerical calculations of those impacts, and, therefore, I think it is an appropriate question and one that I believe, if you don't have it now, we could have by undertaking.

MR. COWAN:  Clarification on this one.  I was confused a bit between incentive pay frozen at 2011 levels and freeze on leaving bonuses.  You mean your retiring bonuses?

DR. HIGGIN:  It is what was discussed this morning, the amounts paid to leaving employees.

MR. COWAN:  The retirement bonuses?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, which was, as you said, those that were incumbents before 2003 and the Society -- not the Society, the PWU.

MR. COWAN:  We have an undertaking already to identify the total amount of those bonuses.

DR. HIGGIN:  I am not asking for that.  I am asking for the impacts on both the compensation amount, total compensation amount, and the revenue requirement in 2013/2014.  I think that is a separate question.  It is an impact assessment.

MR. COWAN:  Well, there were some IRs that were filed that gave some deltas from other parties to show differences of a 1 percent increase.

For instance, CCC 25, so I, tab 7, schedule 10.03, CCC 25, shows an impact -- various impacts of MCP changes.  CCC 24 shows it for PWU, and CCC 23 shows it for Society.

DR. HIGGIN:  Shows what?  COLA at 2 percent, I believe?

MR. COWAN:  The Society increases were limited to 2 percent.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  The revenue requirement would be lowered by --


DR. HIGGIN:  Just with respect, if you could just point to that as part -- as the first part of it.  But there is no IR responses, that I am aware of, for the incentive pay or the leaving bonuses.  There are no IR impacts -- no revenue requirement impacts.

MR. COWAN:  London Property Management Association,
I7, 2.01, 13, part (c) identifies the impact of incentive plan payouts in both test years.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And the leaving bonuses?

MR. COWAN:  Well, the leaving bonuses would technically be whatever the number is for the total payout.  That is part of the other undertaking this morning.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So you are actually inviting me to do the calculation, then?

MR. COWAN:  Well, somebody had asked for the total, and, I mean, it would largely be OM&A, I would assume.  It wouldn't be a capitalized portion, because it was associated with work.  So I would assume it would be 100 percent off on revenue requirement, would be the math.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Well, if that is your answer.  I believe that was a reasonable request for a numerical calculation that could have been complied with.  Anyway, thank you.

MR. COWAN:  I would say we complied with it in response to the other IRs, but we will leave it at that.

DR. HIGGIN:  So then can we go to No. 7, please?  This is Energy Probe TCQ No. 7.

That has as a reference Exhibit I, tab 12, schedule 3.03, Energy Probe 54.  I have the response to that up on the screen, if perhaps somebody could put that up.

We are just trying to clarify information that was provided in this response, amongst other things, and one was that you say that the capital expenditure for this project was 12.7 million at the end of 2012.

We are simply asking for the projections for the test year for this project, and, as you have said here, you are not -- at this point you are saying that, We don't have the information, or something.  We're asking if you now have it and whether you can provide that for the test years.  It is as simple as that.

It is a test year capital project.  Am I wrong about that?

MR. COWAN:  It is in a '15 in-service, if I remember rightly.  Just bear with me.

And in response to OEB Staff 53 - I, tab 11, schedule 1.04, Staff 53, page 2 of 4 - at the very bottom of table 3, there is wide area network there.  It shows -- and this is a comparison with the last case, but it shows that for 2013 the in-service forecast is $16.6 million, and for 2014 it is $3.6 million.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  We will leave that one, then.  Thank you.

Perhaps the last one I would like to follow up on is No. 11.  That reference is Exhibit I, tab 24, schedule 303, EP 67, and that is dealing with the Hydro One transmission connection procedures.

I guess, as you would have gathered, we were concerned that there hasn't been adequate stakeholdering on this, these changes.  And basically in the response you say:  Well, if the Board orders it, so be it.  We will do it.

And so this question asked you whether -- why you wouldn't do it in advance, basically, why wait to be asked by the Board to do it.  And I asked you to discuss this as an approach that was -- seemed reasonable.

MR. COWAN:  And the people who were involved in that will be part of panel 3, and that is why we're saying it is a better one discussed at the hearing.

I do know that there were a number of meetings with various parties, either hosted by the OPA or the IESO, where certainly members of APPrO participated along with Hydro One.

So to that extent there has certainly been some stakeholdering; I just can't talk to all of the specifics as would the panel, one of the panel members who I am sure was involved in some of that.

DR. HIGGIN:  So this would be a hearing matter, then?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much for your responses.  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Panel, if I could ask you to turn up issue 5, Staff 32?  Do you have that okay?

MR. COWAN:  I see it on the screen here.

MR. FAYE:  This one asked you about the increase in OM&A for wood poles, and the response says that the increase is due to an increase in scope of detailed patrols to assess aging hardware.

I wonder what is involved in the increase in scope.  How do you -- how do you incorporate aging hardware in your patrol?  What do you look at?

MR. COWAN:  In the case of wood poles -- I'm not the expert on this.  Again, panel 2 will be the ones who will be able to get -- give you more details.  But obviously with a wood pole, it is subject to a number of different factors that impact its condition, including insect, weather conditions, and -- believe it or not – woodpeckers.  And woodpeckers can cause significant damage to wood poles.

The only way to determine the condition of some of the wood poles is by actual detailed truck/walk patrols, when you actually go in, sometimes you drill core samples to detect the inner workings of the pole and what condition it is in.

So in order to do that and to assess the age and the condition, that is an increase in the level of patrols required, and that drives a higher level of OM&A as a result.

MR. FAYE:  Now, that is what I thought your answer would have been to this question.  And maybe I am misunderstanding the terminology, but this says "hardware." it doesn't say "poles."

So if you say that the increase in budget is because you have to patrol more of your wood pole lines to determine what condition they're in, because generally they're aging, I can accept that.  That is a good answer.

But I wonder about this "aging hardware" phrase.  What is that meant to imply?  Is that through-bolts, insulators, clamps?  What is it?

MR. COWAN:  I could answer that.

MR. FAYE:  Could you undertake --


MR. COWNA:  By "hardware" I assume it is the pole, and any of the little walking things that get up a pole.  But I'm not the --


MR. FAYE:  Would you undertake just to clarify what "aging hardware" is defined to be?

MR. COWAN:  Sure.  We will.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. THIESSEN:  That will be Undertaking KT1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.13:  TO EXPLAIN WHAT "AGING HARDWARE" INCLUDES.

MR. FAYE:  Next question is same issue, Staff 33.

This one concerns the use of composite poles, which Hydro One is going to do a trial on to see how they work out.

And I just wanted to get just a little bit more information on these things, since they're fairly novel, I take it, in Ontario.  A couple of questions you could just do by undertaking.

Can you describe the poles a little bit more in detail?  And is this a type of pole that you can take into a job site in sections and then put together there?  Or does it have to be jacked together off-site and then carried in in one piece?

If we could just have a little elaboration on what these composite poles are all about, it would be helpful.

MR. COWAN:  We could do that.  And I also point you to the answer we provided to Staff 10 this morning.  There is a discussion there on composite poles, which includes life comparison, cost differential, stuff like that.  So there is some information in response to composite poles in that response, as well.

MR. FAYE:  Well, to the extent that that covers off some of the question I have asked you, you can just omit any duplication there and just answer what hasn't been covered in that.

MR. THIESSEN:  That would be Undertaking KT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.14:  TO PROVIDE DETAILED INFORMATION ON COMPOSITE POLES.

MR. FAYE:  The next one is same issue, Energy Probe 12, and I am going to refer you to the evidence that this IR was about, and that's Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 6.  If you could turn that up, that is what we want to look at.

Do you have that up?

MR. COWAN:  We are almost there.  C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 6.

MR. FAYE:  The chart at the bottom of page 6 is a pie chart showing line equipment failure contributed to the SAIFI by component.  And when you read the components that are listed -- insulations, hardware, cross arms, conductor, surge arresters, structures and sky wire -- to my memory that is about everything there is to do with the transmission structure.

And yet here's this other category, and it is 29 percent.  I would think that almost all of the contribution of structures and hardware would have been covered off in the ones that are defined, and I'm wondering what is in the other category that could -- it could be almost 30 percent of the contribution to the SAIFI?

MR. COWAN:  We would have to undertake to let you know what that is.

MR. FAYE:  Could you do that?

MR. COWAN:  We don't have any engineers on the panel here.  Yes, we can.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.15:  CLARIFY COMPONENTS OF SAIFI EXPENDITURES.

MR. FAYE:  The next few questions I have are to do with issue 7, and the first one is Energy Probe 27.

This IR was about productivity initiatives that you present in A-17-1, and we broke all of our questions up into several IRs because it was just getting a little bit too lengthy for one, so some of the questions get repeated.

And the main theme was you have shown savings and have not offset the savings with the cost of making the savings.

So for instance on this one, there is $100 million savings attributed to consolidating smaller LDCs into Hydro One, and when we asked is the $100 million net of the cost to buy the utilities, you said no.

So I am just curious as to why you don't think that would be an appropriate offset.

MR. COWAN:  That really is a question you should ask of panel 1.  We're going to have the productivity people there who can get into that in much greater detail.

What they are trying to identify here are ongoing savings as a result of specific programs or actions.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  On part (c) of that IR, your response notes the method you calculated the savings by, and refers to the forecast LDC cost versus the incremental cost to Hydro One.

I just want to clarify.  The forecast LDC cost would have been the cost for the LDC to operate independently, and the incremental cost to Hydro One is the cost to operate that old system under Hydro One's umbrella.  Is that a correct understanding of that?

MR. COWAN:  What are you looking at in that question?

MR. FAYE:  I am looking at part (c).  It is on page 2 of the response.

MR. COWAN:  Okay, I see it.  Again, panel 1 has the experts who work on that.

MR. FAYE:  Most of these questions may just have to go to the appropriate panel.

All right, look at Energy Probe 28, same issue, 7.  And that is going to be the same question as I previously posed on our other one, so I will save that one for the panel.

Energy Probe 29, same issue.  We have asked how the savings for computer-aided scheduling and dispatch were calculated.  I assume that is probably a question for the panel, as well?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, it is.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  I won't waste time here on it.

Energy Probe 31, same issue.  This one you may want to take an undertaking to provide.  We asked how the expected savings on the Cornerstone project were computed.  And it appears in the response as sub (e), and it really just says, Well, here's what the savings are expected to be.

But it doesn't say how they were -- did someone just sort of look at it and take a guess at what things used to cost on the old system and what they should cost on the new system?  How do you actually quantify this stuff?

So I can ask that of the panel, but --


MR. COWAN:  It would be best to ask the panel.

MR. FAYE:  Perhaps you could forewarn them.

MR. COWAN:  Obviously phase 4 is a DX issue.  That is CIS.  And obviously with a new CIS system, there are a lot of things right now with the old system that are done on a manual work-around basis that would be done.  They calculate that, for instance, as an example, and there's a number of other things that are identified.

But better to talk to the panel about that.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  That was panel 1?

MR. COWAN:  That would be panel 1, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Perhaps you could just forewarn them that I will be asking about that.

MR. COWAN:  Actually, panel 4 for Cornerstone savings, but panel 1 is dealing with overall productivity.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The next one is on Energy Probe 38, same issue.  This has to do with Hydro One's ranking in the CEA performance study, and I had a question about the way the data was put into this study.

You were asked to supply certain parameters, and then it was crunched by the CEA to come up with a metric, and then compare it to other participants in the study.

Is that your understanding of how that study was conducted?  They didn't come up with their own information?  You gave it to them, right?

MR. COWAN:  It is part of a survey.  My understanding is - again, I am not part of that process - with this study is that the utilities all provide input to CEA and they, like all survey companies, gather that data, put it together, and then obviously mask the participants for confidentiality reasons and show the appropriate comparison tables.

MR. FAYE:  We did ask you to identify the seven participants in the study, and you have declined --


MR. COWAN:  That's right.

MR. FAYE:  -- based on confidentiality.  Our purpose in asking that was so we could make some judgment as to:  Are they comparable?  Are they the same as Hydro One?

I understand if it is confidential, fine, we will go at this another way.  But the question I have is:  If those other comparators, those other utilities, do not have a municipal utility structure within their boundaries, how have you accounted for the fact that some transformation costs are embedded in the distributor, not in the transmitter?

So for those LDCs that own and operate their own transformer stations, their costs wouldn't be covered in this benchmarking process here, would it?

MR. COWAN:  I couldn't answer that.  I am not privy to the detail of that.

MR. FAYE:  Would that be panel 1?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, it would.

MR. FAYE:  Perhaps you would forewarn them there, as well, that I would like to ask that kind of question.

If you could turn to Energy Probe 44, this one asked you a few questions about the regional line maintainer classification, and your response is that your regional line maintainer is a more skilled required job, if I could put it that way, and in comparison to local distribution companies.

And in the part (b) response, you note that you had a look at the LDC employees that you inherited when you took over others by amalgamation, and concluded that they weren't trained to the Hydro One level and had limited experience in a complex work environment.

I wonder if that conclusion is driving your conclusion that LDC linemen, in general, are not up to the standards of Hydro One, or have you looked at comparators, like Toronto Hydro, PowerStream, Ottawa?  Would you be making that same claim that Hydro One employees are much more skilful and higher trained than large urban utility linemen?

MR. COWAN:  This has been canvassed several times in past hearings with Mr. McDonald, and he is going to be on panel 1 again.  And people probably will recall that one of the differentiations with Hydro One is that we're both a transmission and a distribution company, and these regional maintainers have to be able to work on both transmission systems, which are obviously at a much higher voltage and requires a different skill set, and, as such, they certainly require a higher level of training than somebody who works for a local distribution company.

I know that has been canvassed in past hearings and that Mr. McDonald would be happy to continue that discussion, if you wish.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, perhaps one simple question.  Are all of your linemen in this regional maintainer classification, or are some of them in the powerline maintainer classification that you referred to when we asked you to compare your hourly rates?

MR. COWAN:  I, offhand, couldn't tell you that.  Again, panel 1 would be prepared to.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, panel 1.

This one I think you will be able to answer, because it is not a really technical question on how things are operated.

This is on Energy Probe 47.  This asks you to compare the old pension plan and new pension plan that applies to MCP and Society-represented employees.

And reading through it, they both appear to be defined benefit plans; is that right?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  So you don't have a defined contribution plan in force in the company?

MR. BECK:  We do not.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  If you look at No. 48, the response there references something called the New Market Pension Plan.  I am wondering about the use of the term "market".  What does that mean?  I would have assumed that meant a defined contribution plan, not a defined benefit plan.

So I wonder what you mean by "market pension".  

MR. BECK:  I cannot respond to that right now.

MR. FAYE:  Can you give us an undertaking to tell us what that is?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. THIESSEN:  That's Undertaking KT1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.16:  to DEFINE "MARKET PENSION."

MR. FAYE:  And I think that is all of my questions.  Thanks.

Mr. MacIntosh has a question for LPMA. 

MR. MacINTOSH:  I am just making sure my counsel doesn't cut me off. 

David MacIntosh of Energy Probe, and I have a question to ask on behalf of Randy Aiken, a consultant to London Property Management Association. 

Panel, would you please turn up Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 7, page 1?

MR. COWAN:  C1, tab 4, schedule 1? 

MR. MacINTOSH:  That's it.  Schedule 7, yes.

MR. COWAN:  Okay.

MR. MacINTOSH:  That is the correct page on the screen. 

Mr. Aiken had Interrogatory No. 16 on that piece of evidence.  And in his interrogatory, (b), he asked that Hydro One provide the actual payments associated with rights payments to railroad companies made in 2009, '10, '11, and if available, for 2012. 

The response, the actual payments made to railway companies in historic years 2009 to 2011 are approximately half a million dollars each year.

In section (c) he asked for the actual payments associated with First Nations' rights payments made in 2009, '10, '11, and if available, for 2012. 

And the answer was that the First Nations' rights payments were approximately 800,000 in 2009, 800,000 in 2010 and 1.1 million in 2011. 

Well, the problem seems to be that the actual payment amounts in that -- those responses do not add up to the rights payments shown in schedule C1, tab 4, schedule 7. 

In 2009, they're 1.1 million less, 2010, 1.3 million less, and in 2011, 1.2 million less.

So Mr. Aiken would like to know what makes up that difference?  Is there some other payment that has not been provided to us?

MR. COWAN:  The response to that IR gave you the dollars specific to both the First Nations and the railways.

There are many, many, many more rights payments transactions that take place, and that accounts for the full difference.  And some of these are very small payments, some are larger, but that is the missing element, is there's significant other numerous rights payments paid across the system.

MR. MacINTOSH:  To other parties? 

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you for that.  That is my question. 

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.  I think AMPCO is going to be next, and then Goldcorp. 
Questions by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I just want to follow-up with one question on regional line maintainers.  I had several, but Mr. Faye asked them.  I just have one additional question. 

Does your designation "regional line maintainer," does the person with that designation for Hydro One have duties which are more sophisticated than would be the case with a comparable LDC? 

MR. COWAN:  That's my understanding -- that's my understanding from past testimony in past cases, yes.  Because of the transmission distribution work, they could work on transmission one day, work on distribution the next, or even that afternoon, depending upon where the work is. 

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I have a question on load forecast. 

It is Exhibit 1, tab 3, schedule 2.01, London Property Management Association No. 2.

MR. BUT:  Yes, I've got that. 

MR. CROCKER:  I wondered, Mr. But, whether these were -- the figures for 2007 to 2011 were actual demand figures, or weather-corrected demand figures? 

MR. BUT:  They are all weather-corrected. 

MR. CROCKER:  All weather-corrected?  Thank you. 

MR. BUT:  That is being looked at -- at the end of table footnote.  All figures are weather-normal. 

MR. CROCKER:  So it is.  Thanks.  Thank you.  Sorry. 

My next question deals with -- you are going to have to flip back and forth here.  Exhibit 1, tab 3, schedule 2.1, London Property -- the same, London Property Management Association 2, the same, and Exhibit 1, tab 3, schedule 5.8, VECC 22.

You're talking here about CDM impacts, the reduction from CDM. 

MR. BUT:  Are you talking about page 3 of... 

MR. CROCKER:  I am talking about page 2 of 3 from the London Property Management IR, and page 3 of 4 of the VECC question. 

I am just trying to reconcile two figures you provide. 

MR. BUT:  Okay.  Can you name them? 

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  2012, 2013, 2014, you talk about load impact of CDM, and you say, in answer to the London Property Management Association interrogatory, 1,890, 2,147, 2,899.

You have those figures? 

MR. BUT:  Can you point me to that? 

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  About two-thirds of the way down the page.

MR. BUT:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Line 35, 36.

MR. BUT:  Right. 

MR. CROCKER:  Or 35 -- I guess 36, 37, 38, maybe? 

MR. BUT:  Right.

MR. CROCKER:  You see the figures? 

MR. BUT:  Yes.  Is that under Ontario demand? 

MR. CROCKER:  Yes. 

MR. BUT:  Okay. 

MR. CROCKER:  And then if you go to the VECC 22, page 3 --


MR. BUT:  Right.

MR. CROCKER:  -- under the heading "Ontario demand" near the top of the page?

MR. BUT:  Right.

MR. CROCKER:  2012, 2013, 2014?

MR. BUT:  Right.

MR. CROCKER:  The figures are 1,351, 1,599 and 2,139, and I don't understand the differences, why we don't have the same figures in both places. 

MR. BUT:  I don't have an answer for you today. 

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Are you going to undertake to provide me one?  Or are you going to ignore me? 

MR. BUT:  Sure.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, good.  I'm happy.

MR. BUT:  No, I would not ignore you.

[Laughter]

MR. THIESSEN:  Undertaking KT1.17.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.
undertaking NO. KT1.17:  for vecc ir nO. 22, PAGE 3, TO EXPLAIN THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE FIGURES under the heading "Ontario demand"


MR. CROCKER:  I just have one further question.  It is an operation, maintenance -- OM&A question.  I don't think you have to turn anything up.

I just wondered whether you are going to update the various labour cost forecasts to reflect the government's initiatives to freeze.

MR. COWAN:  We have no intention of doing that.  The government proposals are not passed as of now.

Also, we have two of our union groups, Society and the PWU, that are going to be entering into collective bargaining, and there is no guarantee that either (a) the legislation will be passed, or that negotiations would result in a change from the forecast that is in front of you now.

MR. CROCKER:  Let me just go a little bit further, then.

Union negotiations begin in March, do they?

MR. COWAN:  The Society and the PWU collective agreements both expire March 31st, 2013.  So I would assume that bargaining will be starting shortly, if it hasn't then.  Again, panel 1 will talk about specifics, but I am sure negotiations will be underway shortly.

MR. CROCKER:  You're not planning for the legislation to be passed?

MR. COWAN:  There is certainly some doubt right now as to whether the Conservatives will support the bill or not in recent press, and certainly it isn't law yet.

MR. CROCKER:  I am not asking you that, and I know this isn't a cross-examination, but I will ask the question once again to give you a chance to answer it.  If you won't, I won't ask it again.

But are you making plans for this -- if that legislation were to be passed?

MR. COWAN:  If that legislation were to be passed prior to the hearing being completed, then we would take direction from whatever that legislation said at that time as a company that is owned by the shareholder.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MR. BUT:  Can I answer the question to the question you just gave me in terms of undertaking so that I can answer an undertaking?

I will refer you to the page before.

MR. CROCKER:  In which?

MR. BUT:  In 22, page 2 under response (f), and the numbers are different because, as explained there, as requested, we took out the demand response numbers.  That is the -- the difference is the demand response estimates.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, thank you.
Questions by Mr. Taylor:


MR. TAYLOR:  I guess I am up.  Andrew Taylor for Goldcorp.  I am back here.  Can you please turn to the Goldcorp interrogatory responses, please, particularly the response to No. 5?

I would like to refer you to the interrogatory (b), 5(b), where I asked:
"What was the subsequent Net Book Value of the Red Lake TS upon completion of the project?" 

My questions are going to focus on the Red Lake TS.

The response was:
"Upon completion of the installation of the new transformers, the Net Book Value of the total Red Lake TS was $14.1 M."


That response is upon completion.  I am wondering if you could tell me what the net book value of the Red Lake TS would be now.  If that is something you could undertake to do?  As well, if you could tell me when completion occurred, that would be helpful.  When was the installation completed?

MR. COWAN:  We could do that as an undertaking.

MR. TAYLOR:  All right, thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.18:  TO PROVIDE CURRENT NET BOOK VALUE OF RED LAKE TS, COMPLETION DATE OF RED LAKE TS, AND ACTUAL COST OF REFURBISHMENT RED LAKE TS.

MR. COWAN:  Would that be 1.18, Harold, since we just answered 1.17?

MR. THIESSEN:  I think we will leave 1.17 on the record as answered and go to the next one.

MR. COWAN:  Okay.

MR. TAYLOR:  In regard to 5(a), in your application in EB-2005-0501 you estimated a cost of $7.5 million for the refurbishment.  The actual cost, according to the response to 5(a), was $6.7 million, and I am wondering if you could please reconcile the difference between the forecast cost of $7.5 million and the actual cost of $6.7 million.

MR. COWAN:  We would do that as part of the same undertaking.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.

Now, if the cost of the refurbishment was $6.7 million as stated in your response to 5(a), and the net book value of the TS is $14.1 million as stated in your response to 5(b), the net book value of the non-refurbished capital for the TS would be $7.4 million, the difference being 14.1 minus 6.7.

Do you agree with that number, 7.4 million?

MR. FRASER:  I don't think you can make that conclusion, because the response for (a) includes removal costs, which aren't capitalized costs.

MR. TAYLOR:  So what if we were to omit the removal costs?

MR. FRASER:  To come up with a pure capital number for (a), you would have to omit the removal costs, and we could undertake to do that.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And so when you do do that, we're going to come up with a number that will presumably be less than 6.7 million in the response to (a)?

MR. FRASER:  Assuming there were removal costs, I would agree with that.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. THIESSEN:  Let's call that undertaking KT1.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.19:  TO PROVIDE TOTAL OF NON-REFURBISHMENT COSTS FOR RED LAKE TS.

MR. TAYLOR:  So would you undertake to explain what the non-refurbished portion of the TS is comprised of?

Like, I understand that there was a refurbishment that involved replacing transformers.  There would have been equipment replaced, fire safety issues replaced or fire safety replaced.

I am just not sure what is left that would comprise a net book value of somewhere in the range of, I don't know, around seven-and-a-half million dollars.

MR. COWAN:  As you can see by the -- right after the 14.1 million in the brackets there --


MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  -- it says it includes all station equipment at the station.  So that includes both transformers, breakers, switches, capacitors, et cetera.

So the net book value of the entire station is all of the equipment in the station, not just the transformers.

MR. TAYLOR:  No, I understand that, but my question is this, is that the station equipment, such as transformers breakers, switches, capacitors, those were refurbished and those are what make up the $6.7 million refurbishment cost.

MR. COWAN:  That is just transformers that were refurbished, according to the answer to (a).

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, I think there is more than just transformers.  If you look at it, you didn't just -- there is associated equipment that was also replaced along with the transformers.

MR. COWAN:  All part of the undertaking, anyway, so we can --


MR. TAYLOR:  Right.  So assuming that I am correct about that, what I am looking for is an explanation of the net book value of the non-refurbished portion of the TS.

I don't know.  I imagine there is land that might have some book value.  There might be some fencing that might have some book value.

This is obviously not transformer-related, but it is all of the other stuff. 

MR. FRASER:  Yes, the station would consist of all of the normal components of a station, you are right, as well as land.

So I am not quite sure what your question is.

MR. TAYLOR:  I would like for you to explain the net book value of the TS, not including the net book value associated with the refurbishment.

MR. FRASER:  So you are looking for a componentized net book value of the station? 

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, I am breaking it down into two parts.  We have a $14.1 million TS.  We know that there was refurbishment done in -- I believe it was 2007, and that refurbishment cost 6.7 million.

All of the other stuff, the difference between the 14.1 and the 6.7, that's what I'm trying to determine the net book value of, because I just don't understand, with what is left -- given that it is a sixty-plus-year-old TS 
-- how it could have a net book value of $7-plus million.

MR. FRASER:  So because you're talking about different points of time, you obviously have to consider depreciation in the interim and things.  It almost looks like you're looking for almost a continuity, or something that explains the movement.

But again, as -- the response shows that there is ongoing capital replacements of smaller components, just in the normal course of business, as well.  So that could also be part of the continuity.

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, if you could provide a continuity, I think that is actually a good idea.  And I would accept that and I think that would be the most helpful way to get me the information.

MR. FRASER:  I think we can do that.  Sorry, you're not looking for all of the components?  You are really looking for two populations, the transformers and remainder?

MR. TAYLOR:  I think for a continuity statement, I would like some groupings of assets, of the general assets.  I am not looking for each component.

MR. FRASER:  They're all subject to the same depreciation rate, anyway.

MR. TAYLOR:  If you could include that depreciation rate, as well, I would like to know what that is too.

Do you know off the top of your head what it is?

MR. FRASER:  I do not.

MR. THIESSEN:  We will make that a separate undertaking, KT1.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.20:  TO PROVIDE CONTINUITY STATEMENT FROM 2006 To 2012, AND TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON SALVAGE VALUE, IF ANY.

MR. TAYLOR:  Your continuity statement, you would cover the years, I imagine, from -- we haven't discussed the period of time for it, but I was thinking something in the neighbourhood of 2006 to 2012.

MR. FRASER:  Well, I was assuming you would want from whatever the date of the refurbishment of the transformers was until the current --

MR. TAYLOR:  Right.  Well, it was -– was it 2007 or 2006? 

MR. FRASER:  I don't know the date.  I was going from what you said.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Why don't we do 2006 just to be safe, even if it is right before the refurbishment? 

Now, the three transformers that were there, that were replaced, was there any salvage value for them?

MR. FRASER:  I can't answer that specifically, but in general we don't include salvage values in our depreciation rates, because there is very little salvage.  In most cases it tends to be pennies on the dollar type metal, so it is usually very immaterial.

MR. TAYLOR:  These are three transformers and they're pretty big transformers, so I would imagine there would be a lot of copper involved.

I don't even know if you upgraded them and used them somewhere else in your system or whether or not you sold the scrap metal off, but would you undertake to provide me with information on the salvage value, if any? 

MR. FRASER:  I think we could do that. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  Best to include that with the last undertaking? 

MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry?

MR. THIESSEN:  Is it best to include that with the last undertaking or do you want a separate one? 

MR. TAYLOR:  It doesn't matter to me.

MR. THIESSEN:  We will include it with 1.20.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Now, in regard to Interrogatory 5(d), and this dealt with the advancement cost associated with the Red Lake TS, in the response, the last sentence, it says:

"The advancement cost attributable to the new transformers at in-service was $1.1 million." 

Now, I guess in-service would be somewhere in the neighbourhood of 2007.  I am wondering if you could please tell me what that number would be today. 

MR. COWAN:  All we can do is undertake to see if that is even possible.  We aren't the experts here on the advancement cost calculation and that, and whether it is even possible to calculate what it would be today.  But we will endeavour, if we can, to respond to it as, I would suggest, part of the same undertaking.

MR. TAYLOR:  I am just curious to know why you think it might not be possible, given that this was a --

MR. COWAN:  I am not an expert on this, so that's why.  I am just guessing.  We will see what the experts say on that. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  And in regard to the advancement cost, again, is it your understanding that my client, Goldcorp, requested the advancement for the TS refurbishment? 

MR. COWAN:  I'm not quite sure, but panel 3 is certainly the experts in the Goldcorp situation. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, will you undertake to get me an answer to that question?  And along with that question, I would like to know whether or not Hydro One can provide any proof of this request, if it was made by my client. 

MR. COWAN:  We will look into it. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you. 

MR. THIESSEN:  Make that a separate undertaking, KT1.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.21:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER GOLDCORP REQUESTED ADVANCEMENT FOR THE TS REFURBISHMENT; AND IF SO, WHETHER HYDRO ONE CAN PROVIDE PROOF OF THE REQUEST.

MR. TAYLOR:  And going back to the $1.1 million for the advancement cost, I am wondering if you could provide me with a detailed economic evaluation for how you came up with the $1.1 million. 

MR. COWAN:  We will see what we can come up with, yes. 

MR. THIESSEN:  Want to make that separate or... best to have it separate? 

MR. COWAN:  Let's keep it separate, just in case. 

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.22. 
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.22:  To EXPLAIN HOW $1.1 MILLION NUMBER WAS CALCULATED.

MR. TAYLOR:  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you. 

MR. THIESSEN:  I think next up would be the School Energy Coalition. 
Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

My first question is on issue 2, and this is VECC 12, so I2, 5.12.  It is very short.  I can just read it; that is probably quicker.  It is just a small clarification question.  Response to question (a), which asked:

"Can you confirm that the survey questions have not changed materially over the period?"

Your response is:

"The customer satisfaction questions' wording remains stable from 2007 to 2011."

So do you mean that it has not materially changed over that period of time? 

MR. COWAN:  That is my understanding from the response. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Perfect.

My second question is SEC 3; this is I2, 9.03.  This is with respect to the COPE survey.

You said you won't be able to provide the survey because of breach of a CEA/Hydro One confidentiality agreement.  So I am going to ask again if you could provide that, and you can make a claim that it should be on a confidential basis, but I would state -- and I have a number of questions similar to this, where, I mean, the Board has in the past -- and it has made provisions for confidentiality, but it has ordered in the past documents to be produced even if there is a confidentiality agreement between the utility and a third party, because the utilities need to be aware that, you know, that they should be reasonably expected to be able to provide this information in the regulatory process.

The Board has ordered in the 2010 Guelph proceeding and the Hydro One EWT proceeding similar sort of confidential documents between Hydro One and the third party.

So I am going to ask again.  Will you provide this survey?

MS. VARJACIC:  No.  It is quite clear.  It is in the undertaking response right in front of you that the membership can be withdrawn if the steering committee members -- so unless the Board orders it, the answer is no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, that's fine.

Next is with respect to CCC No. 3.  This is at I2, 10.03.  You had a discussion earlier with Mr. Buonaguro about this.  I was wondering if you can -- I mean, and you took him to -- you took him to the actual organizational chart.

I was wondering if you could sort of explain the changes.  You can do it -- you can explain the changes and what was sort of -- what led to the changes, sort of what were the benefits of the changes.

I know you say there was no revenue requirement.  The question is:  Could or should there be some sort of revenue requirement change that may flow from that?

MR. COWAN:  First off, to the extent there is any revenue requirement change or OM&A change or capital change, or that, that's been reflected in the application to reflect this.  It would be very small, because it is an internal reorganization, and basically it is just restructuring the executive to have a better, clearer line of sight to different things to be able to have basically EVP, three EP -- EVP positions, thus reducing the number of vice presidents that were reporting to the president.

And to make it more efficient that way, it was a little structure, so there was a strategy group.  There is basically the CFO group, and then there is the -- what I am going to call the field support group, the engineering.

It is just really a streamlining of the organization to consolidate the number, you know, remove the number of direct reports that were reporting to the president and put them to an appropriate EVP.

Basically, the VPs that were there before the senior VPs, they just had a name change.  It was a minor restructuring.  That is all this was.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.

A number of my questions have been answered already.  If I could take you to CCC No. 6, so this is I4, 10.01.

MR. COWAN:  I4?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  CCC?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in every single year -- oh, I will give you a minute.

MR. COWAN:  Mm-hm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is a significant change between the actuals and Board-approved, and I was wondering if you can explain the variances in each year.

MR. COWAN:  It is basically due to just different work levels than what was budgeted at the time.  The best way to describe it is, you know, you put your best forecast forward and events happen that change the work program's requirements, and it can vary from year to year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you undertake to provide a sort of more detailed...

MR. COWAN:  I think Mr. Fraser can add to that.

MR. FRASER:  There we go.  The only other thing I would add is specifically with secondary land use, to a large degree, those costs are not in our control.  They really are subject to non-recurring events and transactions.

Secondarily, the first three of these are -- there are variance accounts for them.  So I just want to remind you of that.  That doesn't explain the variances, but it does give some comfort that the variances do land in a variance account.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am aware of that, but I was wondering if you could undertake to provide sort of a more detailed account of the changes.

MR. FRASER:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MR. THIESSEN:  That will be KT1.23.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.23:  TO EXPLAIN VARIANCES IN EACH YEAR WITH RESPECT TO CCC No. 6, I4, 10.01.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am wondering if I could take you to Staff 29.  This is I5, 1.07.

MR. COWAN:  We have that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I won't read the entire interrogatory, but essentially you were asked about sort of the changes in the per replacement costs and the variances and how they had changed.

I was wondering if you can provide -- by way of undertaking, if you can provide a breakdown of the tables on page 9 and page 19 of the original evidence into the categories based on the type of breaker that is being replaced in each year and the type of transformer, and then the average cost of the per type of breaker and transformer.

I ask because I am trying to get an idea -- I mean, in the answer you say, sort of as an example, in the case of circuit breakers, the costs range.  I mean, they can vary.  I was wondering if we could get a breakdown of knowing how many in each of these categories and to track the difference.  How many are sort of voltage metal-clad breakers, how much are air class breakers.

MR. COWAN:  We will see what we can provide by way of undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.24.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.24:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF THE TABLES ON PAGE 9 AND PAGE 19 OF THE ORIGINAL EVIDENCE, WITH REFERENCE TO STAFF 29, I5, 1.07.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to Staff 33, this is I5, 1.11.

You had a discussion earlier about this, but I was wondering if you were aware of any other utilities in Canada that are using composite poles and have tested them?

MR. COWAN:  Personally, I am not.  Panel 3 would certainly be able to answer that question for you, though.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you undertake to -- not to undertake to find out if others -- but can you undertake if Hydro One is aware of other utilities in Canada using it, and, you know, what sort of feedback that you've received from those other utilities or that you are aware of from any sort of use or test cases that have been going on?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.25.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.25:  TO ADVISE IF OTHER UTILITIES ARE USING COMPOSITE POLES, AND PROVIDE ANY FEEDBACK, WITH REFERENCE TO STAFF 33, I5, 1.11.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to SEC 15, it is I5, 9.08.  I was wondering if you could explain the variances in the transformer switch yard maintenance costs between 2011 and 2013?

MR. COWAN:  Not offhand.  Again, panel 3 could explain that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you provide an undertaking?

MR. COWAN:  We could.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.26.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.26:  TO EXPLAIN VARIANCES IN TRANSFORMER SWITCH YARD MAINTENANCE COSTS BETWEEN 2011 AND 2013 WITH REFERENCE TO SEC 15, I5, 9.08.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to VECC No. 30, I6, 5.07?

MR. COWAN:  VECC 30?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  I must have got that wrong.  I apologize.

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it asks you about -- the 2013 forecast for shared services and other OM&A has increased by 1.5 million in the update.  And your response to why that is the case was to cover the anticipated allocated proceeding costs in the East-West Tie line designation process.

I was wondering, did you not include that, or sort of a forecast for those costs before, in the original filing?

MR. COWAN:  No, we did not.  So we could include it as a blue-page update, once we get the Board decision.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

If I could take you to Energy Probe 31?  This is I7, 3.05.

I know this is with respect to -- you were asked today if you could provide a sort of a breakdown of how you got to your answer in part (e), and you directed Dr. Higgin, I think it was, to the panel?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, I did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if you can provide that by way of undertaking, an answer beforehand.

MR. COWAN:  We can get them to provide more details, yes.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.27.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.27:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF ANSWER TO ENERGY PROBE 31, PART (E).

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you now -- now moving on to issue 11, if I could take you to Staff 52, it's I11, 1.03, if you could move to the second page.

MR. COWAN:  Okay.  I have that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if you could provide a variance analysis between the ISA actuals and 2012 projected and the Board-approved from 2009 -- sorry, 2011 onwards, so 2011 and 2012.

MR. COWAN:  There are details provided in Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 1 of 4, which goes into the 2011 and 2012.  There are explanations on pages 1 through 4 of that exhibit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

The next one is -- this is Goldcorp No. 2.  This is I11, 7.02.

I was wondering, has Hydro One removed the facility in which Goldcorp would be required to pay bypass compensation for from its 2013 rate base, or set its net book value to zero?

MR. COWAN:  My understanding is there is no bypass taken place yet, so no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there is a forecasted bypass, from what I understand, for 2013?

MR. COWAN:  Not right now.  Not until there is some bypass agreement reached, there would be no reduction.

And again, panel 3 would be the one to really get into any status of that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

If I could take you to SEC 24, you state that you will not answer the question.  I was wondering –- again, I will ask you if you can provide a response to the interrogatory.

MR. COWAN:  You're talking about providing the exact month of in-service?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  The reason we said we wouldn't answer that is that it is just totally immaterial.

Electrical utilities have rate base calculated on a mid-year average, unlike the gas utilities that use average or the monthly averages.

So whether it is April or whether it is June or whether it is December, there is no difference in impact of the month.

So we were struggling with what relevance a question of that nature had.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I think you could agree with me that, say, if a planned in-service date is December versus July and there is a one-month delay, that could lead to a rate impact.

MR. COWAN:  It could.  And conversely, if it was January and it is moved up to December, the opposite would take place.  And as we have all forecast, there will be ups and downs, and one-month slippage and one-month advancement.  So it evens out over time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is a refusal?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to issue No. 12, SEC 27, I will start off by saying, is the IHS Global Insights February forecast the same as the IHS Global Insights power plan report?  Is that referring to the same thing or are those two actual different documents?

MR. BUT:  Depending on which forecast we are talking about.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So an example in SEC 27, I mean, the evidence refers to the Global Insights February 2012 forecast.

MR. BUT:  In this case, I believe you are talking about the power cost plan report.  Table.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So then...

So you have refused to provide it, and I am going to ask, again, much the same thing as I asked earlier with the survey; I will ask again if you can provide that information, since you are relying on it.

MR. BUT:  We have the same answer, because the consultant said those are proprietary informations, and they would not want that to be circulated publicly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Even confidentially?  You won't provide it confidentially?

MR. BUT:  That would be the proprietary property.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not sure that is necessarily relevant, but it is okay.

So to the last questions, sort of going back to issue 7, there is no IR to reference.  This is -- Mr. Crocker raised this, but this is in regards to the government's draft Protecting Public Services Act.

As it currently stands, it would apply to Hydro One Inc. and its affiliates, which would be Hydro One Networks Incorporated.

Schedule 1 to the draft bill contains the Public Sector Compensation Restraint Act, and the draft would apply to your non-bargaining employees.

So I was wondering if, first, you can provide an undertaking to provide the following information.

Can you undertake to provide the revenue requirement impact of this bill if it was implemented for January 1st, 2013, for each of 2013 and 2014?

MR. COWAN:  I think I have already pointed to interrogatories that show what an impact of a one percent decrease would be for the various bargaining units and MCP staff.  So if it was three percent and it is now -- and it was zero percent, you would multiply that, the revenue impact of the one percent impact, by three, and you would get the number.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  But the bill -- so this part of the bill, which would not be your bargaining units, contains a number of different provisions.

So, one, there is the, you know, the salary cap measure, which caps all pay at $418,000.  It's a general freeze, with no increase in the rate of pay, including any movement through existing pay ranges.  It sets out a number of rules with respect to performance pay, and it has a number of provisions regarding benefits, prerequisites and other payments.

So it is more than just sort of a:  Please reduce what this group would make by one percent.

MS. VARJACIC:  We will look into it and see what we can do.  I am just not sure at the moment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, so that was my first part.  The second part is I was wondering, then, if you could break it down by those four different things I just mentioned, so salary cap measure, the general rate freeze, the performance pay measures and sort of provisions regarding benefits prerequisites, if you could do that, as well?

MS. VARJACIC:  We will look into what is required and get back to you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second thing is with regard to schedule 2 of the draft bill, which is the respecting Collective Bargaining Act for 2012, and this would apply to your -- primarily the PWU and the Society.  It would apply to the first collective agreement after coming into force.

So assuming that it comes into force at any period before April 1st, 2013, which would be the end of your current collective agreements with the Power Workers' Union and the Society, I was wondering if you could provide what the revenue requirement impact would be for the Power Workers and the Society during the nine months of 2013, and then all of 2014.

And can you undertake to provide the revenue impact for those test years in a change of -- sort of in a change of -- and the increase of wages for zero percent, and then in increments of a quarter of a percent up to 2 percent?

If you read the bill -- if you read the bill, you will understand why some sort of granularity is important, because it doesn't specify it necessarily as zero percent.  Could this be an undertaking?

MR. COWAN:  You have 1 percent on the record already for that one, so --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can we have zero percent in quarter increments to 1 percent?

MS. VARJACIC:  Let me look into what is required.  You know, we have heard tons of evidence before about how the labour units are costing, and whatever.  It is sounding to me like it will be an onerous undertaking.  So let me look into what is required and get back to you.

MR. THIESSEN:  All of that would be undertaking KT1.28.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.28:  to provide the revenue requirement impact of draft Protecting Public Services Act if it was implemented for January 1st, 2013, for each of 2013 and 2014; to break down by salary cap measure, the general rate freeze, the performance pay measures and provisions regarding benefits prerequisites; with regard to schedule 2 of the draft respecting Collective Bargaining Act for 2012, TO provide THE revenue requirement impact for the Power Workers and the Society during the nine months of 2013, and 2014; to provide the revenue impact for those test years and the increase of wages for zero percent, and then in increments of quarter Percent to 3 percent

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is all I've got.

[Laughter]

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.  If there are no other questions from intervenors, and I don't see anybody raising their hand, Board Staff is going to close off the afternoon with some poignant questions, beginning with my colleague, Rudra.
Questions by Mr. Mukherji

MR. MUKHERJI:  I just have a very few questions on tab 11 and 12.  That is rate base.  And I guess all of these are probably for Allan.

If you could please turn to Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 1.04, and I believe that is Staff 53.  My question simply clarification.  I am just trying to understand some of the responses you have given us.

If you are there?

MR. COWAN:  I am there now.

MR. MUKHERJI:  If you look at page 2 -- and I will just focus on the sustainment part of it.

Just to understand, we had asked:  Identify the projects that were delayed that were approved in the last cost of service proceeding, the TX proceeding.

You guys have provided us with a very thorough response here.  I only was wondering if I am reading this correctly.  So in 2011 -- just for the sustainment side of things, in 2011 and 2012, the in-service additions were -- the total was 91 million and 127.8 million.

And if I just follow along that line, I guess in 2011 only 39 was added to rate base?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. MUKHERJI:  And only 45.

So the line just below that, network delayed is 51 and 82.  That is the work that didn't get added to rate base?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. MUKHERJI:  I heard your response to counsel for SEC with respect to the true-ups and how timing can vary.

I am was just wondering, with respect to, for instance, the first project, S4, the original in-service date was 2012.  It's been pushed to 2017.  That's pretty far out; right?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. MUKHERJI:  However, when I look at it, I guess your rates for 2011 and 2012 included 21 million and 13 million.

When you restate your rate base for this proceeding, do you take that out, since it is no longer...

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.  It wouldn't be in the costs, because we're always using the year end gross asset values doing the mid year calculations.  So since there was never anything put in service, it is not in the go-forward rate base.

MR. MUKHERJI:  So if it is not used or useful, it wouldn't be there, then?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. MUKHERJI:  That's very nice.  Thank you.  That was my clarification with respect to that.

If I could take you to tab 12, and just a very minor question with respect to schedule 1.03.  That is Staff 56.  There is a footnote at the bottom that indicates -- the "P" indicates ongoing program work.

I was just wondering if you would again help me with 

-- as an example, S1 has the "P" symbol next to it on 2014.  Do I understand that this is a multi-year thing, or how would I interpret ongoing program work?

MR. COWAN:  So basically we categorize programs as work of a similar nature that is just going to go on from year to year to year to year.  It is not a special project.

So you see there, if we went down to S3, for instance, that is a very specific switch gear replacement project; still part of the sustaining budget, but it is very specific.  Whereas, let's say we have a breaker replacement program, or something.  It may be involving all of the stations throughout the territory; right?

MR. MUKHERJI:  Right.

MR. COWAN:  That would be done as a program.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  So the "P" there is to distinguish that.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Okay.  And I guess this is probably just a typo, but since I have you here, if you look at S19, in sort of a P, there is a little cross over there.  I am guessing it is perhaps supposed to be a "P"?

MR. COWAN:  As in investments, that would be my...

MR. MUKHERJI:  Guess, also?

MR. COWAN:  My guess, since I don't see a plus anywhere.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Yes, that is fair enough, okay.

I had another question for you, again, on tab 12.  It is 1.04, I guess the next one.

Over here, we asked you about the ABCB replacement and the different rates for that.  In part (b), you have given me the historical accomplishments for ABCB replacements under the sustainment program.  And in part (c), you gave us what the planned replacements are in 2013 and 2014.

I see the numbers are significantly different.  So are these two tables comparable, or is one just sustainment and the other one is all inclusive?

MR. COWAN:  No.  They're both part of the sustainment program, but that program is being ramped up because of the demographics of the assets and the age, and what have you.

Also, you did ask another question, going back to the previous question.  I think you wanted to know whether the gross cost equalled the total cost.  And it is identical, okay?

MR. MUKHERJI:  Okay.  I was going to come to that.

MR. COWAN:  Before you leave that question.

MR. MUKHERJI:  So they are the same thing we looked at?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, they are.

MR. MUKHERJI:  I was wondering if you would know -- because there are a couple of ABCB projects that are delayed, with reference to the answer in part (b), the values for 2011 and 2012, these are the actual replacements that took place, two in 2011 and four in 2012.

Would you know how many were planned in 2011 and 2012?

MR. COWAN:  Not offhand, without going back to the previous case.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Would it be a hassle to give us an undertaking on that?

MR. COWAN:  No.  We can let you know.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Thank you so much.

MR. THIESSEN:  It will be undertaking KT1.29.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.29:  TO ADVISE HOW MANY ABCB PROJECTS WERE PLANNED FOR 2011 AND 2012.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Thank you so much.

I have two more minor questions for you, and this one deals with schedule 1.05.  Again, we're on tab 12, so it's the next question.

And here, in response to part (d), I think there is an error in the exhibit references.  So I will let you have a read.

MR. COWAN:  It is not jumping out.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Yes.  And it might well when we get some time, because I had a look at it and I don't think Exhibit D2, schedule 2, tab 3 refers to what this IR is responding to.  Even the reference just before that, D1, schedule 3, tab 2, I don't think exists.

And we can check them now if you want.

MR. COWAN:  We will check into that and get the corrected version.

MR. MUKHERJI:  And I was wondering if it would be possible to give us an update to the response as opposed to just correcting them, because the error shows up in 1.06 and shows up in 1.07 and 1.08 and 1.10.  The exhibit references get messed up.

MR. COWAN:  We will check into that.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Please.  Thank you.

I had one last question for you, and that deals with S12 in the same tab.

MR. THIESSEN:  Do you want to assign an undertaking to that?

MS. FRANK:  Why don't we do a blue page update?

MR. COWAN:  We can do a blue page.

MR. MUKHERJI:  If you could, that would be great.  Thank you so much.

The last one I had had to do with S1.12, and that is part (b).  I was curious to know, I guess this was a project that was supposed to be in-service in 2014 and got delayed to 2015?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Any idea why?  Would you know off the top of your head?

MR. COWAN:  Not off the top of my head.  I know certainly when we filed the initial evidence, it all looked like it was going to be in '14, but then with later information it wasn't going to be doable.

Whether it was due to something with the customer side or whether it was due to environmental, I am not sure.

MR. MUKHERJI:  Just a high-level response, if you could give us an undertaking response for that, that would be greatly appreciated

MR. COWAN:  Sure.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.30.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.30:  to EXPLAin Delay FOR PROJECT described in Exhibit D2, schedule 2, tab 3

MR. MUKHERJI:  Those are my questions.  Thank you so much, Allan.
Questions by Ms. O’Connell:

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  My name is Fiona O'Connell, and I would like to start off with the technical conference response to Board Staff Question 12, and the response to part (c).

In the response to part (c), it stated that:

"The projected US GAAP accrual expense for 2013 and 2014 are based on the same assumptions used to prepare the 2011 year-end disclosures for the pension plan under US GAAP, plus additional projection assumptions."

I am just curious as to what those additional assumptions are.

MR. BECK:  I'd have to undertake to get what that is.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

MR. THIESSEN:  That will be KT1.31.

UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.31:  EXPLAIN ADDITIONAL ASSUMPTIONS referred to in response to board staff technical conference question 12 (c)

MS. O'CONNELL:  I guess I've done my own back-of-the-envelope calculations and they don't totally fall in line with yours.  I don't know if you want me to go into them now or you want to wait until the hearing.

MR. BECK:  Give it a shot.

MS. O'CONNELL:  You want me to go into them?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  Basically what I did was I looked at your 68 million 2011 actuarial loss that is amortized in rates.  And then I looked at the -- I called up the 10-year Canada -- 10-year Canada Bond yields, and I calculated the decrease in the average 2010 rate to 2011 rate, and that was 42 basis points.

Then I multiplied the 42 basis points by 293 million, which you estimated was the 2013 one percent reduction in accounting discount rate as at December 31, 2012, to get 123 million.

Then I divided that by the average remaining service life of 11 years, to get 11 million.

So I added that 11 million to the 68 million to get a 79 million estimated amortized loss for 2012, and then I did the same thing for -- to get to the estimated decline in the 10-year Canada Bond yields from 2011 to 2012, of 42 basis points.  And that generated also another 11 million of amortized loss, to get 90 million for 2013.

And then I looked at the interest rates from the response to SEC Interrogatory No. 37, the forecast summary, where it says that the interest rates are expected to go from 2.84 percent, the 10-year Canada Bond, to 3.06 percent in 2014, to get an interest rate increase of 47 basis points.

Then I also multiplied that 47 basis points by the 293 million, to get 137 million unamortized actuarial loss and I divided that by 11 years to get a 12-year amortized gain.

And that arrived me at a 78 million amortized loss for 2014.  I assume that your return on assets were the same.

MR. BECK:  So one thing you had mentioned there was using changes in interest rates.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Yes.

MR. BECK:  Obviously at the point in time that the -- these numbers were calculated would have been at December 31st, 2011.

MS. O'CONNELL:  It was the average for the year I used, the average 10-year Canada Bond for the year.

MR. BECK:  Yes.  So I am trying to seek clarity, because you referenced the SEC interest rates.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Yes.

MR. BECK:  Which I am asking...

MS. O'CONNELL:  That was the average for the year.  If you go to SEC 37, page --


MR. BECK:  If I could see that, please.

MS. O'CONNELL:  I used that for the 2013 and 2014.

MR. COWAN:  Can we just have the exhibit again?

MS. O'CONNELL:  Sure.  SEC 37, page 3.

MR. COWAN:  And issue?  So I...

MS. O'CONNELL:  Issue 18.

MR. COWAN:  Good.  Thank you.

MS. O'CONNELL:  So it was the 2.84 minus the 2.37, to get 47 basis points.

MR. BECK:  Yes.  As I suspected -- so this is February 2012.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Yes.

MR. BECK:  That would not be in the possession of our external actuaries at the time, at December 31st, 2011.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  I guess -- you said that you used assumptions, so I am just going by the assumptions that are underlying your forecast of long-term debt rate for 2013 and 2014.

And that's what I assumed that you did your assumed calculation of the accrual expense for pensions.

MR. BECK:  Okay.  Sorry, what is the question?

MS. O'CONNELL:  So I guess you are wondering why I was using –-

MR. BECK:  No, sorry.  I'm just saying that when that calculation would have been made, it would have been made effective December 31st, 2011.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

MR. BECK:  And you're referring to an exhibit that is dated February 2012.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  So --


MR. BECK:  So forecasts and interest rates change over time.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Yes.  Further to my understanding, this -- the estimated 194 million of corporate pension costs for 2013 and 182 million in 2014 was done at year-end, rather than using up-to-date information?

MR. BECK:  Yes.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  Do you think if you used up-to-date information, it would provide a material decrease in accrued pension costs?

MR. BECK:  Why do you suspect there would be a material decrease?

MS. O'CONNELL:  Because I did the back-of-the-envelope estimate and I came up with an extra 12 million in 2013 and 15 million in 2014.

MR. BECK:  Okay.  Just at a high level, you're saying interest rates have declined or increased?

MS. O'CONNELL:  I am not sure what they were at year-end.  Your forecasts were for 2013 and 2014.

MR. BECK:  Oh, okay.  So as interest rates decrease, the expense would actually increase.  So as interest rates increase, it actually goes down.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Yes.

MR. BECK:  Unfortunately, I cannot speculate what the interest rates were in February.  However, we do have a schedule, and I don't have the interest rate that is at December 31st.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  Can you undertake to provide an estimate of 2013 corporate pension expense and 2014 corporate pension expense on the accrual method using the most up-to-date actuarial assumptions?

MR. BECK:  So as of a date like September 30th, June 30th?

MS. O'CONNELL:  Well, whatever is underlying your cost of capital section of the application, the same assumptions.

MR. BECK:  Merely relating to interest rates?

MS. O'CONNELL:  Interest rates and your assumptions for expected asset returns.

MR. BECK:  Okay.  So we would not change our assumptions for expected asset returns, so we could do the interest rates.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

MR. BECK:  Okay.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Thank you.

MR. BECK:  That would be the only assumption we would change.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.32.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.32:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF 2013 CORPORATE PENSION EXPENSE AND 2014 CORPORATE PENSION EXPENSE ON THE ACCRUAL METHOD USING THE MOST UP-TO-DATE ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS.

MS. O'CONNELL:  In the same response to the Technical Question No. 12, on the assumptions as at December 31, 2011 on that page there, it says the 5.25 percent discount rate was used, but I thought the response to Energy Probe 49, the actuarial valuation that was provided there said the discount rate was 5-1/2 percent?

MR. BECK:  Yes.  Those are two different purposes.  One is for the purpose of the actual actuarial valuation of the status of the pension fund itself, which is done for cash purposes, and then for accrual purposes we use the interest rates that are applicable for the reporting in the financial statements.

So it is not necessarily that they align, again, because they're prepared at different points in time.

We had prepared our Mercer -- our external actuaries had prepared the actuarial valuation in April versus the financial statements, which would have been prepared as at December 31st.

MS. O'CONNELL:  So you provided a draft March 2012 actuarial valuation report in the response to Staff Technical Question No. 14.  Is that the actuarial valuation that underlies the financial statements?

MR. FRASER:  Yes, that's correct.  That is the document that Mercer provides us to populate our notes, as well as to provide the balances in the financial statements.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  Is there a final version available?

MR. FRASER:  It says "draft", but it never gets finalized.  It is one of those documents that -- it seems to always carry the "draft" stamp.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  My next question is response to Technical Conference Question No. 13, part (a).

You quoted a FERC document that appears to satisfy, in Hydro One's mind, a requirement for a Board order to record a regulatory asset for OPEB.

MR. FRASER:  The FERC document is really provided as additional support.  It obviously doesn't stand in the GAAP hierarchy, and we're not subject to FERC, obviously.  But for informational and analogy purposes, we think it is quite a strong document.

But the key point is that our analysis of the accounting standard is that this applies only to a transition from cash to accrual, which occurred for us in the days of Ontario Hydro.

So we don't have -- basically, we're not subject to it, in our judgment.  Our external disclosures have been prepared that way and subject to review by KPMG.

In the end analysis, it is not a rate issue anyway.  I guess it is a financial reporting issue, I would say.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Yes.  So just to confirm what you just said, it is still under review by KPMG?

MR. FRASER:  No.  No.  KPMG did a full review of our transitional disclosures at Q1, a higher level review than would be done in a quarter, because obviously we didn't want to change our transitional disclosures.  So I won't say it was a full audit, because there is no audit opinion, but we did ask them for a high degree of comfort.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  And they were fine with that?

MR. FRASER:  Yes.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay, because I guess other utilities who have always been on the accrual basis have come to the Board for a rate order.

MR. FRASER:  And we have noted that, and we would disagree with their conclusions on the interpretation of the accounting standard.

Our conclusions are that no rate order is required, and that is why we provided the FERC document.  To us, that is a more appropriate discussion of the accounting issue.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay, thank you.

From what I gather from reading your audited financial statements is that -- for example, your quarterly financial statements under US GAAP is that you are already using the accrual method, more or less, because you're recognizing the funded status on the balance sheet?

MR. FRASER:  We are recognizing the funded status on the balance sheet, but for rate-making purposes and accounting expense recognition, pensions are still on a cash basis.

OPEB, OPEB are still on an accrual basis.  They're all consistent with the previous Canadian GAAP treatment.

So the funded status has relevance for the balance sheet, but not for expense recognition.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  I was just wondering about the response to Staff 
14(g) and 12(b), the 1 percent reduction in accounting discount rate as at December 31, 2012 and a 20 percent reduction in market value of plant assets as of December 31, 2012.

The sensitivity analysis that you provided, would that also correspond to a 1 percent increase in accounting discount rates and a 20 percent increase in asset returns?

MR. BECK:  It would be symmetric.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BECK:  One of the complexities of the return is that we isolate the differences between equity returns and the balance of the portfolio returns.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  SEC has already gone into asking you for an undertaking to do a sensitivity analysis of the proposed draft legislation on compensation restraint, so I won't ask you that.

But Allan had referred to not updating the application if the legislation is not enacted by the time the Board decision is made.  I'm just wondering if you would be agreeable to a variance account that would capture the differences, if the legislation was enacted after the Board decision is made?

MR. COWAN:  That one really should be discussed with panel 1.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  In the response to Staff Technical Conference No. 16, Question No. 16, you isolated the trend in OPEB costs from 2011 to 2014, and I notice that it is almost a 50 percent increase.

You stated it is due to increased headcount, higher total remuneration, increases in underlying cost factors to provide benefits.

It just seems like quite a high number. 

MR. FRASER:  Yes.  That is basically all we had time to do.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

MR. FRASER:  Given the time we had to work on the question.  But we have asked for additional analysis from Mercer on that.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  Thank you.  So undertaking?

MR. THIESSEN:  That will be Undertaking KT1.33.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.33:  to EXPLAIN INCREASED OPEB COSTS.

MS. O'CONNELL:  My next question is your response to Staff Question No. 25, part (b).

You said that the pension cost differential account is similar to other variance accounts approved by the Board that are external revenue accounts.

I am just wondering what accounts you meant by that. 

MR. FRASER:  I think all we're saying there is, I think, the question made the assertion that no other components of the revenue requirement are trued up.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.

MR. FRASER:  So all we're pointing out is that there are external revenue accounts, where there is a high degree of unpredictability or lack of ability to control, which are potentially analogous with pension.

So that is really just pointing out that there are other examples.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  Thank you.

In the response to part (c) of the same question, Question No. 25, you provided a breakdown of the 12.4 million principal balance.

I am just wondering how the -- if the OM&A pension expense actual is allocated in the same manner as the underlying revenue requirement, in terms of the difference between OM&A and capital. 

MR. FRASER:  Subject to check, my understanding is this analysis is based on the OM&A only, because that is what the variance covers.  It doesn't deal with pension contributions; it deals with the expense portion of the -- of the pension contribution. 

So the variance account captures variances on the OM&A only, so there should be no capital considerations here. 

MS. O'CONNELL:  But I guess, for example, the 2011 number of 34.4 million, from what I understand, that is based off of your actuarial valuation, and a component of that is allocated to OM&A. 

MR. FRASER:  Yes.  I don't recognize that number, so I would have to check that. 

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  Can we have an undertaking, please?

MR. THIESSEN:  Undertaking KT1.34.

UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.34:  to CONFIRM IF OM&A PENSION EXPENSE ACTUAL IS ALLOCATED IN THE SAME MANNER AS UNDERLYING REVENUE REQUIREMENT, IN TERMS OF THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN OM&A AND CAPITAL.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  I have two additional questions that weren't in what I sent last week.

The first question is about the impact for changes in US GAAP account.

You said it was a continuation of the account approved in EB-2011-0268, but that account was to record the 2012 impact of differences between CGAAP and US GAAP.

The account requested in this proceeding is to record the impact of changes to US GAAP compared to the basis of those approved in this proceeding as part of the 2013 and 2014 test years.

I was just wondering, the Board has never approved a general account to account for changes in Canadian GAAP, so why should the Board approve an account for changes in US GAAP?

MR. FRASER:  Yes.  That is a little bit of a confusing one, because it is not meant to accommodate impacts from future changes in US GAAP occurring in '13, '14.

Because we haven't had our audit completed for 2012 yet, we're asking for continuance of the account in case there are transitional adjustments that potentially we have missed -- very low probability, but it is not impossible -- that could be identified through our audit, which would be occurring right up to February 2013.  And if there was any -- any sort of follow-on impacts from something we missed in 2012, it would be a transitional adjustment that could potentially impact '13, '14.

So we're not really trying to keep the account alive or in flight as much as we -- there is a small chance that the account may still be -- the 2012 account still may be needed into '13 and '14.

MS. O'CONNELL:  So it is a "just in case" account? 

MR. FRASER:  Yes.  I should point out nothing had been recorded in the account to this point in time.

MS. O'CONNELL:  No.  Okay. 

My last question is to -- involves Board Staff IR No. 77.  This is the deferral and variance account continuity schedule.

And in column 10 -- column 2010...

MR. COWAN:  Can we just have that reference again, please, Fiona?

MS. O'CONNELL:  Sure.  It is Issue -- Issue 19, Question 77.  If you scroll to the 2010 column -- keep going.  Yes.

There is -- under Board-approved disposition during 2010, there is a 20.4 million debit balance that is added to the account.

So I am just -- I don't know what that is, basically. 

MR. FRASER:  That makes two of us.

[Laughter]


MR. FRASER:  I only have my reading glasses so I'm not going to attempt this, but I will ask for an undertaking to get back to you on that.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  KT1.35.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.35:  EXPLAIN THE $20.4-MILLION DEBIT BALANCE referred to in Board Staff IR No. 77 deferral and variance account continuity schedule.

MS. O'CONNELL:  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Thiessen:


MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  I just have a couple of more questions.

First of all, the response provided by Hydro One, Technical Conference responses to Board Staff No. 8.

It is a question that I asked about or that Board Staff asked about standard cost escalation.  I asked if there were specific percentages assigned to that definition, and you provided them for 2012 to 2014.

But as soon as we got the answer I was a bit surprised at the magnitude of the standard cost escalation in this case.  And I am wondering, in particular, with 2013, there is a 6.2 percent increase.  I'm wondering whether you would have any information that would justify that magnitude of increase, or what might make up that magnitude of increase. 

MR. COWAN:  Certainly not with me today, Harold. 

MR. THIESSEN:  Think it is worth an undertaking? 

MR. COWAN:  If you would like one, we will provide it.

MR. THIESSEN:  Sure.  It's been my custom today to provide many of them. 

[Laughter]


MR. THIESSEN:  It is KT1.36.
UNDERTAKING NO. KT1.36:  to EXPLAIN REASON FOR STANDARD COST ESCALATION OF 6.2 PERCENT FOR 2013.

MR. COWAN:  That is the reason for the 2013 increase? 

MR. THIESSEN:  Yes.  Moving along, and on the same general issue of cost escalation, in response to Board Staff IR 16, which is under tab 3 -- that is tab 3, Staff 16 -- I asked about how cost escalation estimates had changed.  From 2011, it changed from 3.7 percent to 4.4 percent, and in 2012 from 2.3 to 4.3 percent.

I know there have been questions about Global Insights earlier today and how you are provided with that forecast and you don't really have much input into how it is derived.

Do you have any insight as to why that changed so significantly? 

MR. BUT:  The change was -- the change was primarily due to the economic or credit recessions in Europe, and as a result the commodity prices dropped significantly.  And that, in turn -- such as copper and all of the -- aluminum and all that, including oil prices, and all of that has an impact on the cost escalation for the utility equipment and maintenance. 

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Thanks for that. 

My next question is about the CDM forecast, and I'm still having trouble getting my mind around exactly how Hydro One took a forecast or a target from the OPA and I assume analyzed it, had meetings with the OPA, did as the Board, you know, required in the last case.  I'm still having trouble with this idea that it's a target that the OPA has put together; yet you have adopted their target as sort of your forecast.

So sometimes I have trouble, you know, envisioning a target as your forecast.  To me a target is something you shoot for, but you don't achieve; whereas you've made this part of your forecast as an achievable, logical outcome for the test years.

MR. BUT:  The CDM target that Hydro One used is based on OPA's CDM forecast for the test years and beyond, and the OPA CDM forecast was guided by the long-term energy plan.

For 2015, for example, you have the 45, 50 megawatts peak savings, and energy savings of 13 terawatt hours.  That is set out in the long-term energy plan.

OPA has more detail, annual CDM impacts associated with -- to achieve that target set by the government, and Hydro One is just using the CDM target provided by the OPA in our load forecast.

MR. THIESSEN:  But isn't that target dated November 2010; is that correct?

MR. BUT:  That target was dated November 2010, but this is the current target set by the government that we will attempt to meet.

MR. THIESSEN:  So you have confidence in that target to the degree that you would make that part of your load forecast, put it that way?

MR. BUT:  As we reply in one of the IR response to the staff, today we have not seen any evidence from the OPA that they told us that the target would not be achieved for the number that we used.  That is the reason why we are using the number that they provided.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  But let me take you to the response to an LPMA interrogatory, tab 3, LPMA 2.  There, the LPMA has asked for an update of the load forecast up to June 2012.

MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MR. THIESSEN:  If we look at the column for Ontario demand on page 3 of that interrogatory response, for 2011 the load impact of CDM is 1499, and on the previous page, on page 2, your previous forecast -- or your forecast is 1605.

Now, the difference in those two numbers, what does that tell us?  What would that tell you?

MR. BUT:  These two numbers are using a consistent set of monthly peak, consistent with the information we got from the OPA.

In table 3, the first table for 2011, 1605, 1890, those numbers pertain to a 12-month average monthly peak.

MR. THIESSEN:  Mm-hm.

MR. BUT:  While the second table for 2011 and 2012, that pertains to the six months' average megawatts for January to -- from January to June.

MR. THIESSEN:  But does that tell me that your CDM results from January to June are lower than your forecast?

MR. BUT:  No.

MR. THIESSEN:  Can I interpret it that way?

MR. BUT:  No, because the first number -- the peak number on the first table pertains to the maximum peak in the summer, while the -- and including the summer peak, while in the second table that is only for the first six months, because the monthly peaks are different.  Therefore, the average 12-month and six-month numbers are accordingly different.

MR. THIESSEN:  So that doesn't indicate that your CDM forecast is over-forecasting?

MR. BUT:  No.

MR. THIESSEN:  That is not the indication?

MR. BUT:  No, that is not the case.

MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.  Can we have a short break?

--- Recess taken at 4:02 p.m.

--- On resuming at 4:14 p.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  So let's begin again. 

MS. FRANK:  Start at the very beginning?

MR. THIESSEN:  I have just a final question, and that has to do with Board Staff -- tab 5, Staff 26.  It is the interrogatory that deals with the O&M costs per transmission line and per asset.

I notice the O&M numbers used in that table are different than the ones that are in the application in the O&M section, so I am just wondering what the difference is between the numbers in the table and the ones that are in the evidence as the total O&M for the case. 

MR. COWAN:  The majority of it?  See how that says "O&M" and the other table you're referring to would have said "OM&A"?  So OM&A would have included shared services and property taxes; that should be the majority of the difference. 

MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
Procedural Matters:


So if no one else has any other follow-up questions, I think we are done for the day. 

Susan, do you want to make a statement about how you may be able to deliver the undertakings by the 19th or...

MS. FRANK:  Thank you.  I think the majority of these questions we'll be able to answer and get in -- and I appreciate that given the schedule and the process, that it is helpful for us to have them in by the 19th to allow people at least a weekend to look at them before settlement.

There are a few questions that require us to go to somebody else to get an answer, and it is always harder to commit that somebody else will give you that response on time.  So I want to indicate we will make a best efforts, but there is a chance that some of these questions will not be -- answers will not be available by the 19th.  We will do them as quickly thereafter as possible.

I hope that is reasonable.

MR. THIESSEN:  Any comment?  Well, thank you, and that is it for the Technical Conference. 

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 4:16 p.m. 
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